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Economic environment

Economic growth in Estonia after accession to the European Un-

ion has been very rapid. This has been based on an increase in 

the trustworthiness of the state, the opening of the labor market, 

as well as the development of the fi nancial sector. 

Developments in the world’s economy and fi nancial markets also 

affected Estonia’s economy in 2007.  An anticipated slowdown in 

the growth of the Estonian economy started. By the end of the 

year, Estonia’s economic growth reached 7%, which was based 

on reductions in domestic consumption and real estate invest-

ments. Some events from the economic developments of 2007 

can be highlighted. Deteriorating relations with Russia; a faster 

than expected cooling of the real estate market; the continued 

acceleration of wage increases, the faster than predicted rise in 

world foodstuff and fuel prices, which, together with the domes-

tic infl ationary pressure incidental to fast wage increases, accel-

erated infl ation. 

In 2007, the telecommunications sector demonstrated good re-

sults. The merger and purchase of companies helped the devel-

opment and growth of the sector. The consequences of the US 

junk-loan crisis that started at the end of the year, had an effect 

on the future of world economic development and therefore 

also the telecommunications sector. Price increases in energy, 

raw materials, and foodstuffs signifi cantly reduced consumption 

which increases competition in the sector and reduce profi t ex-

pectations.  

According to analysts, uncertainty in the Estonian economy is in-

creased by the developments in the world. In 2008, economic 

growth of 4–5% is projected for the Estonian economy.

Telecommunications market

More than ever before, European telecommunications operators 

are being forced to juggle the decreasing revenues of their prin-

cipal activities on the one hand, with the opportunity of conquer-

ing new attractive markets related to new technologies and in-

novative services on the other hand. The communications sector 

is the only fi eld of activity where prices continue to fall, while the 

resources necessary for the provision of communications serv-

ices – personnel costs, fuel, rents, and knowledge-based devel-

opment services – are all becoming more expensive. A general 

trend in the communications sector is that the service itself is no 

longer as important as the content that is provided to the client. 

The need for interactivity is also increasing. 

In the mobile communications fi eld, the trend of “adding intel-

lect” to the terminal equipment is continuing. In other words, 

modern mobile phones are increasingly becoming computers 

with good multimedia features, and the connections to mobile 

communications networks that are becoming faster, creating a 

combination that delivers good results. The effects of Internet-

based social networks and UGC (User Generated Content) or con-

tent created by the users themselves – photo and video albums, 

blogs – continue to expand. Virtual reality environments are im-

proving and becoming increasingly popular. 

In 2007 Eesti Telekom group was characterized by good profi tability growth. Satisfac-
tion can be gained from growth of client base, growth of DigiTV rapid popularity and 
also from increase of mobile data usage. 
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Last year, the development of mobile-ID defi nitely turned a new 

page in the use of mobile phones, whereby they have also be-

come a secure means of providing authentication and electronic 

signatures for using modern e-services. Currently, many types of 

location-based services, which have been available to Estonian 

users for many years, are gathering steam but the rapid devel-

opment of mobile terminals – the integration of GPS satellite 

positioning and mobile-network-based positioning and the im-

provement of map applications – make the use of these services 

more convenient and faster. 

Even today, hundreds of thousands of people use m-Internet 

and this continues to increase. The expansion of the coverage 

area of today’s high-speed 3.5G mobile communications net-

work provides an opportunity for more people to satisfy their 

Internet needs by mobile means even outside urban areas. The 

maximum speed of up to 7.2Mbps for downloading and 1.4Mbps 

for uploading is signifi cantly better than the speeds of many 

permanent home connections. Of course, due to fl uctuations in 

mobile communications, it is only possible to approach maxi-

mum speeds near the base stations, if there are few hindrances, 

although the maximum megabits per second are becoming a 

reality in an ever-widening area. 

In the broadband segment, the latest signifi cant innovations and 

technological developments are related primarily to the develop-

ment of DigiTV. The implementation of IPTV (television through 

the Internet) has allowed signifi cantly different television trans-

mission to be provided to the Estonian population. Compared to 

other television transmission methods, IPTV technology provides 

signifi cantly more possibilities (Internet and TV transmission syn-

ergy) compared to other means of transmission and provides the 

opportunity to provide very different additional services through 

the TV screen in the future.      

As of May 2007, Elion was the fi rst in Estonia to provide video 

rental, which is available to all DigiTV clients. What is innovative 

about this service is that people can rent fi lms without leaving 

home. The introduction of video rental to the market means that 

people’s habits in using certain services change with the devel-

opment of technology – people use the same services but in a 

different way.  

In October 2007, Elion and EMT opened the fi rst digital music 

sales environment in Estonia, which contains about 4 million 

songs from foreign and Estonian artists from 12,000 record com-

panies around the world. The music store is available to clients 

from the hot.ee Internet portal and EMT mobile portal SurfPort. In 

November, the provision of the Pildialbum (PictureAlbum) serv-

ice was also introduced. This is an added-value service based 

on the hot.ee environment and Elion IP-based television, which 

allows the users to load their photos onto the web and exchange 

them with friends through their TVs.  

The Eesti Telekom group

The 2007 Eesti Telekom group results refl ect the favorable eco-

nomic environment as well as developments in the telecom-

munications sector.   

Compared to previous year, the economic results for the Eesti 

Telekom group were good. The largest increase in revenues was 

produced by the mobile communications service segment – con-

tributions were made by new customers, increased call minutes, 

equipment sales, as well as the growth of data communications. 

In the broadband services segment, the triple solution demon-

strated good sales results. However, the IT services segment had 

the greatest proportional growth.  

The following developments in the Group’s course of activity are 

rewarding: 

• The AS EMT mobile data communications revenues exceeded 

revenues for the same period in 2006 by 50%. The number of 

mobile data communications users increased by 51 thousand 

during the year. The increase of popularity in mobile data 

communications is based on the one hand on the introduc-

tion of new data communications packages based on month-

ly fees introduced to the market in the summer of 2007, and 

on the other hand, on the dynamic expansion of the 3G cov-

erage area, which has allowed clients to use high-quality and 

high-speed data communications with conveniently control-

lable costs. 

• The use of Mobiil-ID (Mobile-ID) introduced to the market in 

May 2007 is growing rapidly.  New users are being added and 

the frequency of use by current users is also increasing, which 

demonstrates that people have accepted the idea that Mobile-

ID is a secure and convenient way to operate in the Internet. 

• Of all DigiTV clients, one in two has chosen Elion as their serv-

ice provider, whereby the company has captured over half of 

the DigiTV market in one year, this is primarily because Inter-

net-based television allows for services to be provided in a 

new innovative way. The number of DigiTV users has doubled 

during 2007. The video rental service that was introduced to 

the market in the fi rst half of 2007 has become very popular 

among clients due to its convenience and simplicity of use. 

• As of July 1st, MicroLink Eesti was transferred from Elion En-

terprises to the direct management of Eesti Telekom. The 

main purpose of the transfer was to place greater importance 

on the IT business at Eesti Telekom. With its rapid increase in 

turnover, MicroLink Eesti is among the best IT companies in 

the Baltic countries. At the same time, Microlink was recog-

nized by Sun MicroSytems, the world’s largest manufacturer 

of servers, which chose MicroLink as its best cooperation 

partner in the Baltic states.  

The structure of the Eesti Telekom group

As of July 1, 2007, AS MicroLink Eesti AS is a direct 100% subsidiary 

of Eesti Telekom. AS Eesti Telekom bought AS MicroLink Eesti from 

AS MicroLink, a 100% subsidiary of Elion Enterprises. The holding 

company, AS MicroLink, was merged with Elion Enterprises.  

The goal of the changes was to improve the customer service and 

effi ciency of the Eesti Telekom group and to improve cooperation 

between the companies in the Group.  

Financial results

Revenues, costs, profi t 

The consolidated sales revenues of the Eesti Telekom group in 

2007 reached 6,261 million EEK, increasing by 9% compared to 

2006 (2006: 5,768 million EEK).

Over 50% of the outside revenue growth of the Eesti Telekom 

group came from the mobile communications services segment. 

The sales revenues for the mobile communications services seg-

ment in 2007 were 3,904 million EEK, increasing by 12% com-

pared to 2006 (2006: 3,502 million EEK). The costs for the mo-

bile communications services segment outside the Eesti Telekom 

group increased by 9% and the revenues of the Group’s subsidiar-

ies dealing with trading by 3%. 
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The revenue increase of the principal activity of the mobile com-

munications services segment during the last year was primarily 

related to an increase in the number of call minutes initiated 

from and completed in the EMT network and the growth of mo-

bile data communications. The number of call minutes initiated 

from the EMT network increased by approximately 14% com-

pared to 2006. The increased number of call minutes is based on 

more active use by the customer. 

During the year, the number of call minutes per customer has 

also increased and the number of call minutes initiated from the 

EMT network per customer has increased by 8% compared to 

2006. The large number of call minutes also compensated for 

the drop in minute rates that continued in 2007 and the revenues 

earned from call services (including the monthly fees for pack-

ages that allow for a specifi ed number of call minutes for a fi xed 

monthly fee) increased by almost 11% compared to 2006. The 

number of call minutes terminated in the EMT network increased 

at approximately the same tempo as the call minutes initiated 

from the EMT network. 

Compared to the end of 2006, the customer base of AS EMT was 

larger by 6 thousand, reaching 765 thousand active SIM cards 

(December 2006: 759 thousand cards). Compared to a year ago, 

the number of contractual clients increased by 36 thousand, 

reaching 469 thousand, while at the same time, the number of 

users of active pre-paid cards decreased by 30 thousand to 296 

thousand by the end of the year. As opposed to the previous 

year, an aggressive campaign to attract new pre-paid card users 

was not organized at the end of 2007. EMT assesses its market 

share of active SIM cards as 48%. The approximate penetration 

of active cards in Estonia is 119%.

Very rapid growth continued to be demonstrated by mobile In-

ternet revenues. This year, the revenues for mobile data com-

munications exceeded the revenues for the same period in 2006 

by more than 50%. At the same time, the volume of data trans-

mitted increased eightfold. The number of AS EMT mobile data 

communications users in December 2007 was 161 thousand, 51 

thousand more users than a year ago. The increase in popular-

ity of mobile data communications is caused, on the one hand, 

by the introduction on new data communications packages with 

fi xed monthly fees in the summer of 2007, and on the other 

hand, by the dynamic expansion of the 3G coverage area, which 

provided clients with quality and high-speed data communica-

tions at conveniently controllable prices. At the end of 2007, 3G 

coverage extended to all the county seats in Estonia, as well as 

many other towns and their vicinities. Rapid development in the 

private segment was caused by the EMT Internet startup pack-

age, which includes a free high-speed 3.5G modem for loyal 

customers signing up for the EMT Internet 399 package. This pro-

vides the client with an opportunity to use Estonia’s 3G network 

with the largest coverage area and provides Internet connections 

with speeds approaching those of ADSL. Secondly, the number of 

mobile Internet users has been positively affected by the estab-

lishment of a price ceiling of 9 EEK per day for the use of EMT Sur-

fPort. This has made using the Internet on their mobile phones 

affordable for many customers. In the fourth quarter of 2007, 

EMT doubled the downloading speed of the 3.5G network to 7.2 

Mbit/sec, which increased both the capacity of the network as 

well as the speeds provided to the users. At the same time, the 

EMT also introduced faster data uploading in the 3.5G network 

(so-called HSUPA), which increased speeds for the senders of 

voluminous e-mails over three times to 1.4 Mbit/sek. 

A regulation applies to AS EMT, as it does to other mobile opera-

tors in the European Community, which specifi es that as of Sep-

tember 2007 the rate per minute for outgoing calls made within 

the borders of the European Community cannot exceed the maxi-

mum price established by the European Community. Therefore, 

revenues from roaming customers have decreased by a third. 

The revenues for the mobile communications services segment 

from retailing and wholesaling telecommunications merchandise 

increased in 2007 compared by the same period in 2006 due 

primarily to larger mobile phone sales volumes.

In 2007, AS EMT earned average revenues of 341 EEK per client 

per month, which is 2.7% more than in 2006 (2006: 332 EEK).

In 2007, the sales revenues for the broadband services segment 

increased by 9%, reaching 2,984 million EEK (2006: 2,748 mil-

lion EEK). The most signifi cant impact on the growth of sales 

revenues was caused by the continued increase of the number of 

customers for integrated solutions, which increased the revenues 

earned from these monthly fees by 54%. As a result of the in-

crease in the users of integrated solutions, the revenues earned 

from the monthly fees for single Internet connection products 

have decreased by 12%. 

During the year, the choice of Elion integrated solutions has 

constantly expanded. At the end of 2007, a VoIP Business Solu-

tion was introduced to the market, which differs from the usual 

Business Solution primarily due to Internet calling and additional 

call communications services.  As of August 2007, private clients 

have been offered a Korrusmaja (Multi-Story) solution including 

DigiTV. 

At the end of 2007, the number of Elion Group triple package 

clients reached 53.5 thousand (31 December 2006: 25.5 thou-

sand). The popularity of the triple package has been signifi cantly 

enhanced by the offering of supplemental services. The video 

rental service that was introduced to the market in the fi rst half 

of 2007 has proven to be very popular among clients due to the 

convenience and simplicity of its use. The service has no monthly 

or subscription fee and fi lms can be rented for a one-time fee, 

which is added to the monthly service bill. The selection of rental 

fi lms, karaoke videos, and programs has also constantly im-

proved. As a result of a successful marketing campaign, 207,000 

viewings were achieved by the end of 2007. As of October, Elion 

in cooperation with the Estonian Conference Center and SEB Eesti 

Ühispank offers free video rental of lectures from Estonia’s top 

conferences. The objective of the service is to make educational 

services available to as many people as possible. Thanks to the 

development of the video rental system, Elion was chosen as the 

winner in the Innovator 2007 category of the enterprise competi-

tion organized by Enterprise Estonia.

Starting in October 2007, clients of Elion’s Home and Multi-Story 

Solutions can watch DigiTV on several TV sets. Home Solution 

clients have the opportunity to order an additional DigiTV view-

ing location, while Multi-Story Solution clients are offered the 

opportunity for up to four additional viewing locations. In order to 

enable ADSL2+ lines to transmit two TV pictures, the download-

ing speed for Home Solution DigiTV clients was increased. As of 

February 2007, Elion is the fi rst in Estonia to provide new genera-

tion high-defi nition television (HDTV) services, which initially are 

only available to Elion cable TV clients.  

In December, a new service called PictureAlbum was also intro-

duced to the market. This is an added-value service based on the 

hot.ee environment and Elion IP-based television, which allows 

the users to load their photos onto the web and exchange them 

with friends through their TVs. The service is available for use by 

all registered hot.ee clients.
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By the end of 2007, the total number of Elion IP and cable TV cli-

ents reached 58 thousand, which is  109% more than at the end 

of 2006 (31 December 2006: 28 thousand clients). In June, Elion 

also started to offer DigiTV to business clients, thereby providing 

high-quality digital television broadcasts to offi ces, public service 

institutions, and lodging establishments.

The number of permanent Internet connection in the broadband 

services segment increased by 16% in 2007, reaching 163 thou-

sand by the end of the year (December 2006: 141 thousand). 

The growth of the number of the Group’s permanent Internet 

connections coincided with the growth of the volume of the en-

tire Internet market. Elion assesses that its Internet market share 

among private clients continues to be 56%. In May 2007, Elion 

Enterprises received a license from the Communications Board 

for the 3.7 GHz frequency band that allowed Elion to develop a 

network of WiMAX base stations across Estonia. In the second 

half of the year, base stations were installed in all the counties, 

except for Hiiu and Põlva Counties. As a result, the number of Eli-

on’s Internet connections based on WiMAX technology increased 

3.5 times in 2007. 

The rental revenues for connections in the broadband services 

segment increased in 2007 by 44%, which was based primarily 

on greater sales volumes of services with lower margins. 

Although call communications around the world are moving from 

fi xed networks to mobile networks, the fi xed-line telephone con-

tinues to be a popular means of communication in Estonia and 

this especially among business clients, among whom the number 

of telephone lines has increased in recent years. Despite the de-

crease in the market volume of fi xed call communications and of 

Elion’s intra-network call revenues, Elion’s market position contin-

ues to be strong. Elion assesses its market share for call minutes 

initiated in a fi xed network to be 81% (December 2006: 83%). In 

2007, Elion Group’s call revenues increased by 3% compared to 

2006. The increase was based primarily on domestic call transit 

and an increase in the volume of international calls initiated from 

the mobile network. During the year, the revenues for internation-

al calls initiated from the mobile network and domestic call transit 

increased by 60% and 168% respectively. At the same time, the 

revenues from intra-network calls decreased by 14%. 

In 2007, Elion started to offer a Business Client VolP service that 

enables communications over the Internet, which, in addition to 

a VoIP number includes 10 e-mail addresses and the possibility 

of hosting the company’s website. In November, the testing of a 

Private Client VolP product was started in areas where ordinary 

telephone connections cannot be provided. 

The number of Elion call interfaces reached 487 thousand by the 

end of 2007 (31 December 2006: 463 thousand interfaces). The 

increase in the number of call interfaces is based on the compa-

ny’s energetic activities directed at keeping existing clients and 

fi nding new ones. A signifi cant impact on the increase in the 

number of interfaces was caused by additional users of integrat-

ed solutions, since telephone connections are also a component 

of double and triple packages. 

Retail sales revenues in the broadband services segment in-

creased by 18%, including revenues from the sale of home 

electronics, computers and supplementary appliances that dem-

onstrated the greatest growth. Thanks to the increase in the 

number of fi nancing contracts, the fi nancing revenues from pri-

vate and business clients increased by 42% compared to 2006. A 

signifi cant accomplishment was the creation of the possibility to 

formalize installment payment contracts in Elion’s e-store. This is 

the fi rst fully automatic installment payment solution in Estonia, 

which has quickly become popular among clients. By the end 

of the year, the majority of Elion’s e-store clients had used the 

installment purchase option.  

In October 2007, Elion, in cooperation with its sister company 

AS EMT, opened a digital music sales environment, which is the 

fi rst in Estonia to offer the works of both local and international 

artists. The music store contains about 4 million foreign and Es-

tonian songs from 12,000 record companies around the world. 

The music store is available to clients through the hot.ee Internet 

environment and the EMT mobile port, SurfPort.

In 2007, sales revenues in the IT services segment reached 365 

million EEK (2006: 280 million EEK). The increase in sales rev-

enues of the IT services segment, without the Võrguteenuse 

(Network Service) business sphere that was transferred to Elion 

Enterprises in 2006, was 38% compared to the same period last 

year, increasing from 265 million to 365 million EEK. The sales 

turnover for IT services increased by 31% and the sales turnover 

for IT merchandise by 45%. 

The most important events in the IT services segment in 2007 

were the startup of customer management, the renewal of 

many important contracts and the implementation of important 

IT solutions, as well as the creation of a sales unit for standard 

leased services.  

In respect to the sale of IT merchandise to business clients, unde-

niably the largest transaction was winning the procurement for 

the Schengen information system platform fi nanced within the 

framework of the Schengen Facility Program and its successful 

implementation, in which MicroLink Eesti executed the SIS infra-

structure solution. In addition, several large IT infrastructure solu-

tions were executed for business clients based on HP and SUN 

products, including the Molcode GRID solution and the cyber-de-

fense project at the Ministry of Defense. From a sales standpoint, 

the development of cooperation with HP and the creation of a HP 

sales and support services team, as well as the startup of coop-

eration with Symantec in the fi eld of data security and archiving 

solutions was important. 

In the Business Solutions area, the largest contracts concluded 

by MicroLink Eesti were for implementation of a digi-recipe and 

digi-picture archival information system for the Ministry of Social 

Affairs and a document management system for the Tax and 

Customs Board. The given projects will continue in 2008. In addi-

tion to the startup of the Dynamics AX fi nancial accounting sys-

tem at Elion Enterprises. OpenText, the world’s leading software 

corporation, chose MicroLink Eesti as its best partner in Central 

and Eastern Europe. At the end of 2007, MicroLink’s fi rst Livelink 

modules were exported to Lithuania. MicroLink Eesti took over 

the representation of Progress software in Estonia from AS And-

mevara. As of 1 December 2007, MicroLink has the right to sell 

OpenEdge, Sonic, Actional, Business Objects (Crystal Products) 

and Tugboat (Roundtable) products. For OpenEdge, MicroLink is 

the only authorized reseller in Estonia.

In respect to the development of leased services, the emphasis 

last year was on putting the existing product portfolio in order 

and standardizing it, with the goal of fi nding suitable solutions 

for servicing mid-and small-sized companies. Based on the com-

plexity of a client’s offi ce solutions and how crucial its effective-

ness is, the sales units now have a choice of three solutions 

based on different taxation principles, as well as special solu-

tions. In 2007, the greatest victories in the area of leased services 

included the hosting of the Construction Register of the Ministry 

of Economics and Communications, the renewal of the SAP appli-

cation hosting agreement with the Tallinn City Government, the 
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CV Online backup data center service, the procurement for the 

Estonian Informatics Center e-health development environment 

and the hosting of the Tallinn Space Register.   

At the beginning of this year, there are plans to introduce a 

number of offi ce solutions that use standard server solutions—

starting from simple fi le and printer servers to the hosting of 

fi nancial and customer management software. In addition, there 

are plans to introduce several simple solutions related to data 

recording and data security and to provide monitoring and ad-

ministrative services for the servers administered by the clients 

themselves. 

The Eesti Telekom group total revenues for the retailing and 

wholesaling of telecommunications and IT merchandise in-

creased in 2007 by almost 17% compared to 2006, thanks pri-

marily to greater volumes of sold merchandise.  

The operating costs of the Eesti Telekom group increased by 9% 

in 2007 reaching 3,947 million EEK (2006: 3,621 million EEK). 

In 2007, the operating costs in the mobile communications serv-

ices segment were 2,463 million EEK, increasing during the year 

by 14% (2006: 2,158 million EEK). The principal part of the sup-

plemental operating costs is related to principal activities. Oper-

ating costs increases in connection with greater costs for inter-

connection services (resulting from an increase in the number of 

call minutes made by clients to other networks) and increased 

roaming costs. The generally strong pressure on wages in the 

Estonian economy had an effect on the mobile communications 

services segment and the personnel costs increased by 17% 

compared to 2006. At the same time, the ratio of personnel costs 

in the total costs of the mobile communications services seg-

ment is relatively modest. Since the retailing and wholesaling of 

telecommunications and IT merchandise is a fi eld of activity with 

very low profi tability compared to the principal activity, then the 

increase in the trading revenues of the mobile communications 

services segment is accompanied by a comparable large increase 

in operating costs.  

In 2007, the operating costs in the broadband services segment 

reached 2,115 million EEK (2006:  1,935 million EEK), increasing 

9% during the year. More than half of the additional operating 

costs resulted from increases in the service volumes. The greatest 

increases were in sales costs for connections, purchase costs for 

network resources, the costs for international outgoing termina-

tion units, and the retail sales costs of merchandise. Personnel 

costs increased, basically due to increases in salary costs, by 18% 

compared to 2006. Costs for the maintenance of communica-

tions equipment and buildings increased during last year by 10%. 

Marketing costs in the broadband services segment increased by 

35% during the year and IT costs by 34%. The increase in IT costs 

was primarily related to the more active purchase of services 

from MicroLink Eesti. 

The operating costs of IT services segment increased in 2007 by 

30% compared to the previous year, reaching 343 million EEK 

(2006: 264 million EEK). 

The Eesti Telekom group EBITDA in 2007 was 2,336 million EEK 

(2006: 2,195 million EEK). 

The EBITDA of the mobile communications services segment in-

creased by 3% compared to 2006 reaching 1,387 million EEK 

(2006: 1,346 million EEK). The modest growth is basically related 

to the one-time provision of 62 million EEK created in 2007 in 

order to cover possible retroactive claims resulting from intercon-

nection fee disputes. 

Pursuant to the resolution of the Communications Board dated 

21 March 2006, the termination fee for voice calls in the mobile 

phone networks (interconnection fee) for AS EMT, Elisa Eesti AS 

and Tele2 Eesti AS for the period 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007 was 

fi xed at 2.05 EEK per minute, and pursuant to the resolutions of 

the Communications Board dated 20 June and 22 June 2007, was 

fi xed at 1.66 EEK for the period 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2008. Since 

Elisa Eesti AS and Tele2 Eesti AS disputed the decisions in court, 

and in the course of provisional legal protection, the validity of 

the aforementioned administrative act was suspended, the inter-

connection fees of all three mobile operators remained at 2.50 

EEK until 5 November 2007. On 5 November 2007, the ruling of 

the Tallinn Circuit Court came into force, whereby the provisional 

legal protection was cancelled and all three mobile operators 

were obligated to apply interconnection fees of 1.66 EEK.  

The possible effect of a retroactive claim on the consolidated 

profi t of the Eesti Telekom group is eliminated since Elion Enter-

prises has submitted claims to the three mobile operators that 

exceed the EMT provision.

The EBITDA of the broadband services segment also increased 

by 3% in 2007 reaching 882 million EEK (2006: 858 million EEK). 

Here the modest growth of EBITDA is primarily affected by the 

profi t of 43 million EEK that Elion Enterprises earned from the sale 

of real estate in the second quarter of 2006. The given factor is 

refl ected in the consolidated data of the Eesti Telekom group. 

In 2007, the EBITDA of IT services segment reached 24 million 

EEK (2006: 27 million EEK, including revenues from the disposal 

of the Metroo network). 

The Eesti Telekom group EBITDA margin has declined somewhat 

during the year, reaching 37.3% in 2007 (2006: 38.1%). 

The Eesti Telekom group’s depreciation costs in 2007 were 496 

million EEK (2006: 548 million EEK). The decrease of depreciation 

costs was mainly affected by the application of new depreciation 

rates in 2006. At the beginning of 2006, TeliaSonera established 

new uniform useful life spans for the fi xed assets for their 100% 

subsidiaries.  The companies of the Eesti Telekom group also de-

cided to apply the depreciation periods suggested by TeliaSonera 

as of 1 May 2006. In connection with the application of new 

depreciation periods, adjustments were not made regarding the 

depreciation costs already calculated on the fi xed assets. The 

lengths of the remaining useful life spans were adjusted for the 

existing fi xed assets. 

During last year, the Eesti Telekom group earned an operating 

profi t of 1,840 million EEK which was an increase of 12% com-

pared to 2006 (2006: 1,646 million EEK). The fi nancial revenues 

(net) earned by the Eesti Telekom group increased somewhat 

in 2007 compared to 2006, reaching 46 million EEK (2006: 

41 million EEK). 

On 1 July 2007, AS Microlink sold AS MicroLink Eesti shares to AS 

Eesti Telekom. The unrealized intra-group profi t from the sale of 

the shares was 93.7 million EEK.

In 2007, AS Eesti Telekom paid its shareholders record-setting 

dividends. Despite the increase in the amount of dividends, the 

income tax due on the dividends decreased in connection with 

the decrease in the tax rate, reaching 371 million EEK in 2007 

(2006: 373 million EEK).

The Eesti Telekom group earned a net profi t of 1,512 million 

EEK in 2007 (2006: 1,314 million EEK). The income per shares 

reached 10.91 EEK (2006: 9.49 EEK).
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Investments

During 2007, the Eesti Telekom group invested 863 million EEK 

(2006: 771 million EEK) into tangible and intangible fi xed assets. 

The mobile communications services segment has invested 330 

million EEK in 2007 (2006: 274 million EEK). In mobile communica-

tions, in addition to continuous GSM network development, a large 

fi eld of development was the implementation of technologies 

supporting high-speed mobile data communications. By the end of 

the year, EDGE, which operates on the basis of the GSM network, 

covered 94% of base stations. A noteworthy result was achieved 

in the development of the 3G network—all Estonia’s county seats 

were covered. As of November 2007, it is possible to use data com-

munications speeds of up to 7.2 Mbits/s for downloading and 1.4 

Mbit/s for uploading in the 3G network. In addition, the reliability 

of the network was signifi cantly increased— all the exchanges of 

the network were put into operation as a single resource, so that 

a failure of one exchange will not cause the base station serving 

it to fail or cause a widespread disruption of service. In the second 

quarter of 2007, the development of the Mobile-ID service was 

completed. Mobile-ID is a mean of authentication developed in 

cooperation with the Certifi cation Center, an associated company 

of the Eesti Telekom group, which is actually a further develop-

ment of the ID card in the mobile phone. Mobile-ID enables the 

convenient but secure verifi cation of an individual’s identity, with-

out requiring the existence of a special card reader. Since people 

always carry their mobile phones, this provides greater freedom in 

the execution of Internet transactions that need the verifi cation of 

an individual’s identity and the provision of digital signatures. Mo-

bile-ID promotes e-services that require great security, for instance, 

the use of e-banking or the e-tax board, making this possible even 

in public Internet points or abroad.  Cooperation has already been 

started in Latvia and Lithuania to develop Mobile-ID into a personal 

identifi cation and electronic signature service based on a uniform 

technical standard that could unite the three Baltic countries. 

During the 12 months of 2007, investments into fi xed assets in 

the broadband services segment reached 513 million EEK (2006: 

467 million EEK). The principal part of the investments continued 

to be directed at improving the availability of permanent con-

nections and DigiTV, the development of network resources, and 

several cooperation projects with local governments to improve 

communications in various corners of Estonia. Compared to 2006, 

signifi cantly more was invested in the reconstruction of space 

for equipment housing services. In May 2007, the Communica-

tions Board issued a frequency license to Elion for expanding the 

network of WiMax base stations throughout Estonia, thereby ex-

panding the opportunity to use permanent high-speed Internet 

connection in low-density rural areas.  

In 2007, the IT services segment invested 33 million EEK (2006: 

30 million EEK), of which 39% constituted the AS MicroLink 

trademarks that were acquired in the course of the merger of 

the parent company AS MicroLink and Elion Enterprises that took 

place within the framework of the structural changes at the Eesti 

Telekom group. The majority of the remaining investments went 

to the expansion of the infrastructure necessary for the provision 

of services. In 2007, MicroLink Eesti installed a cornerstone for 

its new 10-story headquarters that is being constructed in the 

heart of Tallinn’s new innovation center. The projected cost of the 

building is 120 million EEK.

Balance sheet and cash fl ows 

As of 31 December 2007, the Eesti Telekom group balance sheet 

was 5,023 million EEK (31 December 2006: 4,812 million EEK). 

The fi xed assets of the Group have increased by 355 million EEK 

during the year. The increase in fi xed assets resulted primarily 

from the investments made by the Group’s companies. Current 

assets have decreased by 144 million EEK during the year, where-

as cash and cash equivalents, as well as short-term fi nancial in-

vestments, have decreased by 298 million EEK. The reason for 

the reduction in cash and short-term investments is a dividend 

payment that was 69 million EEK larger than last year, income 

taxed paid on dividends, and investments. 

As of 31 December 2007, the Group’s equity totaled 4,314 million 

EEK (31 December 2006: 4,113 million EEK). 

As of 31 December 2007, the Eesti Telekom group has long-term 

obligations of 25 million EEK (31 December 2006: 38 million EEK) 

and short-term debt obligations of 683 million EEK (31 December 

2006: 660 million EEK). The Group’s net debt at the end of 2007 

was -1,087 million EEK and the net debt to equity ratio was -25% 

(31 December 2006: -1,383 million EEK and -34%).

The 2007 operating cash fl ow for the Eesti Telekom group was 1,902 

million EEK (2006: 1,899 million EEK). The Groups cash fl ow into 

investment activities was 518 million EEK (2006: 761 million EEK). 

Cash fl ow for the acquisition of tangible and intangible fi xed assets 

increased during the year, reaching 861 million EEK during the last 

year (2006: 750 million EEK). The Eesti Telekom group cash fl ow 

from fi nancing activities in 2007 was 1,311 million EEK (2006: 1,243 

million EEK), of which the majority was used to pay dividends. 

Personnel

As of 31 December 2007, the number of Eesti Telekom group 

employees was 2,398 (31 December 2006: 2,294). The average 

number of employees during 2007 was 2,327 (2006: 2,206). 

The number of employees in the mobile communications serv-

ices segment as of 31 December 2007 was 597 (31 December 

2006: 553). The number of employees has increased in connec-

tion with the expansion of the service portfolio. 

The number of employees in the broadband services segment as 

of 31 December 2007 was 1,533. Compared to the end of 2006, 

the number of employees in the group increased by 55. The in-

crease was primarily based on the increase of the volume of paid 

services provided to clients and the contact centers created in 

Pärnu and Tartu in the fi rst half of the year. 

The number of employees in the IT services segment as of 31 

December 2007 was 261 (31 December 2006: 258).

The amount of wages paid to the employees of the Eesti Telekom 

group in 2007 totaled 569 million EEK (2006: 484 million EEK). 

In the mobile communications services segment, the employees 

were paid 153 million EEK (2006: 128 million EEK). In the broad-

band services segment, the employees were paid 327 million 

EEK (2006: 279 million EEK). In the IT services segment, the em-

ployees were paid 76 million EEK (2006: 65 million EEK)

As of 31 December 2007, the operating and upper management 

of the Eesti Telekom group included 52 people (31 December 

2006: 54 people). The salaries for the operating and upper man-

agement calculated during 2007 totaled 57 million EEK (2006: 

57 million EEK).

Structure of capital and restrictions on transfer of shares

The share capital of AS Eesti Telekom (hereinafter “Eesti Tel-

ekom“) is divided into registered shares of one class, each with 
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a par value of ten (10) EEK. The shares of Eesti Telekom can be 

freely transferred. Each share grants its holder one vote at the 

general meeting of shareholders and entitles the shareholder to 

participate in the general meeting, in the distribution of profi t, 

and in the distribution of the remaining assets upon Eesti Tel-

ekom’s liquidation, as well as other rights provided by law. The 

share capital of Eesti Telekom does not include securities that 

are not admitted to trading on a regulated securities market of 

a member state. 

The articles of association of Eesti Telekom do not prescribe any 

restrictions on the transfer of shares. 

Eesti Telekom has not entered into any agreements with share-

holders for restricting the transfer of shares, and nor is the Man-

agement Board of Eesti Telekom aware of any such agreements 

having being entered into between the shareholders.

As of 31. December 2007, the following shareholders have a 

qualifying holding in Eesti Telekom: Baltic Tele Aktiebolag (a 

holding of 59.25 per cent) and the Republic of Estonia through 

the Ministry of Finance and (a holding of 24.17 per cent).

Eesti Telekom has no securities granting special control rights. 

Eesti Telekom has not set up any employee share schemes.

The Management Board of Eesti Telekom is not aware of any 

agreements on voting rights between the shareholders. The regu-

lation of voting rights contained in the articles of association of Ees-

ti Telekom does not in any way differ from that prescribed by law. 

The shareholders of Eesti Telekom do not hold preferred shares. 

Management

Election of management board members. The Management 

Board of Eesti Telekom has two (2) to fi ve (5) members as decided 

by the Supervisory Board. According to the articles of association, 

the members of the Management Board are elected by the Super-

visory Board for a term of three (3) years unless otherwise decided 

by the Supervisory Board. The articles of association may not pre-

scribe a term of offi ce longer than fi ve years for the members of 

the Management Board. The members of the Management Board 

must be residents of Estonia. In order to elect a member of the 

Management Board, his or her consent is required.

The Supervisory Board appoints one member of the Manage-

ment Board as the Chairman of the Management Board. The 

Chairman of the Management Board is the chief executive offi cer 

of Eesti Telekom. The Supervisory Board defi nes the allocation of 

duties and responsibilities among the members of the Manage-

ment Board and the chief executive offi cer.

Extension of the term of offi ce of a member of the Manage-

ment Board may not be decided earlier than one year before 

the planned date of expiry of the term of offi ce, and not for a 

period longer than the maximum term of offi ce prescribed by 

the articles of association. A decision for extension of the term 

of offi ce of a member of the Management Board entered in the 

commercial register must be immediately sent to the registrar of 

the commercial register.

Appointment of Management Board members. With good 

reason, a court may appoint a new member of the Manage-

ment Board to replace a withdrawn member of the Management 

Board on the petition of the Supervisory Board, a shareholder 

or other interested person. The authority of the court-appointed 

member of the Management Board will continue until appoint-

ment of a new member of the Management Board by the Super-

visory Board. A member of the Management Board appointed by 

a court has the right, at the company’s expense, to be compen-

sated for his or her costs to a reasonable extent and to receive a 

reasonable fee, the amount of which shall be established, in the 

case of dispute, by a court ruling.

Resignation of Management Board members. A member of 

the Management Board may resign from the Management Board 

with good reason if he or she gives notice of his or her resigna-

tion to the Supervisory board and, if this is impossible, submits a 

relevant application to the registrar of the commercial register.

Removal of Management Board members. The Supervisory 

Board may remove a member of the Management Board re-

gardless of the reason, but the rights and obligations arising from 

a contract concluded with him or her will terminate pursuant to 

the contract.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board or a person authorised 

by him or her must sign a petition for entry of expiry of the 

authority of a member of the Management Board or for entry 

of a new member of the Management Board in the register. The 

corresponding minutes of the meeting of the Supervisory Board 

must be appended to the petition.

The general meeting of shareholders of Eesti Telekom has the 

authority to amend the articles of association. A resolution on 

amendment of the articles of association is adopted by the gen-

eral meeting if at least two-thirds of the votes represented at the 

general meeting are in favour. A resolution on amendment of the 

articles of association will enter into force as of the making of a 

corresponding entry in the commercial register. 

The Management Board of Eesti Telekom is a directing body of 

the company that represents and directs the company. The Man-

agement Board must, in directing, adhere to the lawful orders of 

the Supervisory Board. The Management Board is required to act 

in the most economically purposeful manner. Transactions that 

are beyond the scope of everyday economic activities may only 

be concluded by the Management Board with the consent of the 

Supervisory Board; however, the lack of such consent does not 

render the concluded transactions invalid. 

Either the Chairman of the Management Board alone or two 

members of the Management Board jointly may represent Eesti 

Telekom and sign documents on behalf of Eesti Telekom.

Issue and buyback of shares

Members of the Management Board of Eesti Telekom do not 

have the authority to issue shares; only the general meeting of 

shareholders is entitled to issue shares. The Management Board 

of Eesti Telekom may represent Eesti Telekom in a transaction 

whereby the shares of Eesti Telekom are acquired

1) upon a resolution of the general meeting, provided that:

a. this occurs within one year after adoption of a resolution of 

the general meeting which specifi es the terms and condi-

tions and term for the acquisition or taking as security of 

shares and the sums to be paid for the shares;

b. the sum of the nominal values of the shares held or taken as 

security by the company does not exceed one-tenth of the 

share capital; and

c. the shares are paid for from assets exceeding the share capi-

tal, reserve capital and premium;
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2) upon a resolution of the Supervisory Board without a reso-

lution of the general meeting if the acquisition of shares is 

necessary to prevent signifi cant damage to the company. 

The shareholders must be informed of the circumstances sur-

rounding and the details of the acquisition of shares at the 

next general meeting of shareholders;

3) without the restrictions set forth above if the shares are ac-

quired by succession.

The annual general meeting of shareholders held on 22 May 

2007 granted a right to Eesti Telekom to acquire shares of Eesti 

Telekom within one year as of adoption of the resolution (i.e. 

until 22 May 2008) in such a way that the sum of the nominal 

values of the shares held by Eesti Telekom does not exceed the 

limit prescribed by law (i.e. 10%) and that the amount paid for 

a share does not exceed the highest price paid for that share 

on the Tallinn Stock Exchange on the day of acquiring the share. 

Eesti Telekom may pay for the shares from the company’s as-

sets exceeding the share capital, reserve capital and premium. 

The number of shares to be acquired in a certain transaction will 

be determined separately before each purchase transaction by a 

resolution of the Supervisory Board of Eesti Telekom. 

Effects of takeover bids

Eesti Telekom has not entered into agreements with the Man-

agement Board or employees containing provisions on payment 

of compensation in the case of a takeover bid.

Eesti Telekom has not entered into agreements that take effect, 

alter or terminate upon a change of control of the company fol-

lowing a takeover bid in accordance with the provisions of chap-

ter 19 of the Securities Market Act.

Report on Corporate Governance
As from 1 January 2006, AS Eesti Telekom (“Eesti Telekom”) 

follows the instructions of the Estonian Principles of Corporate 

Governance (“the Principles”). This report describes the man-

agement of Eesti Telekom in 2007 and its conformity with the 

Principles. In 2007, Eesti Telekom believes it adhered to the 

Principles except in the cases noted in this report.

Eesti Telekom

Eesti Telekom is a public limited company registered in the 

Republic of Estonia, at Valge 16, 19095 Tallinn, with the reg-

istry code of 10234957. The share capital of Eesti Telekom in 

2007 was 1,379,545,280 EEK, which is divided into registered 

shares of a single type with a nominal value of 10 EEK. Eesti 

Telekom shares are listed on the main list of the Tallinn Stock 

Exchange (Baltic Main List), with the abbreviation ETLAT. The 

Eesti Telekom share register is maintained by the registrar 

of the Estonian Central Register of Securities. Eesti Telekom 

has approximately 3500 shareholders. In addition, the global 

depositary receipts (GDR) of Eesti Telekom shares are listed 

on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange, with the 

abbreviation EETD. Every Eesti Telekom GDR represents three 

Eesti Telekom shares. 

General Meeting

The highest management body of Eesti Telekom is the share-

holders’ general meeting. General meetings can be annual 

or extraordinary. The authority of the general meeting is de-

fi ned by the Estonian Commercial Code and the Eesti Tel-

ekom articles of association (the articles of association are 

available on the Eesti Telekom website at www.telekom.ee). 

Among other things, the authority of the general meeting 

includes amending the Eesti Telekom articles of association, 

approving the annual report, distributing the profi ts, and 

electing the members of the Supervisory Board. 

Exercise of the Rights of Shareholders

Each Eesti Telekom share provides one vote at the general 

meeting and shareholders can participate in general meet-

ings and vote at the meetings personally or through repre-

sentatives. Usually, the general meeting has the authority 

to pass resolutions if more than half the votes represented 

by shares are present. Resolutions of the general meeting 

are passed if over half the votes represented at the general 

meeting are in favor, except in certain cases (e.g. amending 

the articles of association, increasing and reducing share 

capital, issuing convertible bonds, and the merger, division, 

reorganization, and termination of Eesti Telekom), in which 

case the resolution is passed if at least 2/3 of the votes 

represented at the general meeting are in favor. 

On 6 February 2007, an extraordinary shareholders’ meet-

ing took place based on the application of Eesti Telekom 

shareholder Baltic Tele AB, which recalled three members 

of the Eesti Telekom Supervisory Board and elected three 

new members to replace them. The recall of the Superviso-

ry Board members was related to internal structural chang-

es at TeliaSonera AB, the parent company of Baltic Tele AB, 

which caused changes in the work assignments of some of 

the TeliaSonera employees who were members of the Eesti 

Telekom Supervisory Board, thereby making the perform-

ance of their assignments as Supervisory Board members 

more diffi cult. 89.93% of the votes represented by shares 

were present at the general meeting, and therefore the 

meeting had the authority to pass resolutions.

In 2007, the shareholders’ annual general meeting took place 

on 22 May. The meeting approved the 2006 Annual Report 

and proposal for the distribution of profi ts, amended the Eesti 

Telecom articles of association, approved the conditions for 

the repurchase of Eesti Telekom shares, recalled the mem-

bers of the Eesti Telekom Supervisory Board and elected new 

members, approved the procedure for the remuneration of 

Supervisory Board members, chose the Eesti Telekom audi-

tor for the 2007 fi nancial year, and approved the procedure 

for paying for auditing services, deciding that the provision 

of auditing services and payment for those services shall be 

regulated by an agreement to be signed with the auditor. 

87.94% of the votes represented by shares were present at 

the annual general meeting, and therefore the meeting had 

the authority to pass resolutions.
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On 6 September 2007, an extraordinary shareholders’ meet-

ing took place based on the application of Eesti Telekom 

shareholder Baltic Tele AB, which recalled one member of 

the Eesti Telekom Supervisory Board and elected one new 

member to replace him. The recall of the Supervisory Board 

member was related to the termination of his employment 

relationship with TeliaSonera AB Group, the parent company 

of Baltic Tele AB, making the performance of his assignments 

as a Supervisory Board member more diffi cult. 83.43% of 

the votes represented by shares were present at the general 

meeting, and therefore the meeting had the authority to 

pass resolutions.

Calling of the General Meeting and Publishing of Information 

The Eesti Telekom Management Board announces the con-

vening of a general meeting at least three weeks in advance 

in the case of an annual meeting and at least one week in 

advance in the case of an extraordinary meeting, by publish-

ing a corresponding notice in at least one newspaper with 

national circulation in the Republic of Estonia. 

A notice regarding the extraordinary general meeting 

to be held on 6 February 2007 was published in the Pos-

timees on 12 January 2007 and through the Tallinn Stock 

Exchange information system on 11 January 2007. A no-

tice calling the 2007 annual general meeting was pub-

lished in the Postimees on 20 April 2007 and through the 

Tallinn Stock Exchange information system on 19 April 

2007. A notice regarding the extraordinary general meet-

ing to be held on 6 September 2007 was published on 

28 August 2007 both in the Postimees and through the 

Tallinn Stock Exchange information system. No questions 

were asked regarding the agendas presented in the given 

notices and no supplementary proposals were made.

Therefore, as regards the general meetings of Eesti Telekom, 

the Principles were followed in 2007, except for the rule 

prescribed by clause 1.3.2. of the Principles. Pursuant to the 

given clause, the candidates for Supervisory Board member 

who have not previously been members of the issuer’s Su-

pervisory Board will participate in the general meeting. Jüri 

Raatma, a candidate for Supervisory Board member, did not 

participate in the 2007 annual general meeting for reasons 

not related to Eesti Telekom. Lars Klasson, a candidate for 

Supervisory Board member, did not participate in the ex-

traordinary general meeting held on 6 September 2007 for 

reasons not related to Eesti Telekom.

Supervisory Board

Duties

The Supervisory Board plans the activities of Eesti Telekom, 

elects the members of the Management Board, and executes 

supervision over the activities of the Management Board. In 

conformity with the Eesti Telekom articles of association, the 

Supervisory Board makes decisions regarding the company’s 

activities in signifi cant fi elds of activity and questions that 

are not under the sole authority of the general meeting ac-

cording to the law or articles or association and which are 

outside the framework of the company’s everyday economic 

activities (i.e. approval of budgets and business plans, re-

solving organizational issues related to Eesti Telekom and 

its group, etc.).

Members and Remuneration

Pursuant to the articles of association, the Eesti Telekom Su-

pervisory Board comprises of six to ten members who are 

elected by the general meeting for a term of two years. Until 

22 May 2007, the Eesti Telekom Supervisory Board included 

the following people: Terje Christoffersen, Anders Gylder, Jör-

gen Latte, Tarmo Porgand, Mats Salomonsson, Aare Tark, and 

Heido Vitsur. As from 22 May 2007, the following people 

comprised the Eesti Telekom Supervisory Board: Terje Christ-

offersen, Anders Gylder, Jörgen Latte, Tarmo Porgand, Mats 

Salomonsson, Aare Tark, and Jüri Raatma. At the extraordi-

nary general meeting of the shareholders of Eesti Telekom 

held on 6 September 2007, Terje Christoffersen was recalled 

from the Supervisory Board and Lars Klasson was elected as 

a new member. 

The term of offi ce of the current members will expire on 

the following dates: on 22 May 2009 in the case of Anders 

Gylder, Jörgen Latte, Tarmo Porgand, Mats Salomonsson, 

Aare Tark, and Jüri Raatma; and on 6 September 2009 in the 

case of Lars Klasson.

The following Supervisory Board members are associated 

with the Swedish company TeliaSonera AB that controls Eesti 

Telekom: Lars Klasson, Anders Gylder, Jörgen Latte, and Mats 

Salomonsson. The Supervisory Board member, Aare Tark, has 

had business connections (provision of legal services) with 

Eesti Telekom through a company controlled by him, but the 

company providing the services did not receive a signifi cant 

amount of compensation for the services and therefore Aare 

Tark can be considered an independent member of the Su-

pervisory Board. 

The members of the Supervisory Board will elect a Chair-

man from among themselves. Until 6 February 2007, Erik 

Hallberg acted as Chairman of the Supervisory Board. At 

the Supervisory Board meeting held on the same day, the 

Supervisory Board elected Terje Christoffersen as the new 

Chairman. Terje Christoffersen was the Chairman until 6 

September 2007. At the Supervisory Board meeting held on 

20 September 2007, Mats Salomonsson was elected as the 

new Chairman of the Supervisory Board.

Remuneration for the work of the members of the Supervi-

sory Board was paid according to the resolution of the 2007 

annual shareholders’ meeting. In 2007, the monthly pay-

ment for the Chairman of the Supervisory Board was 20,000 

EEK and 9,000 EEK for the members of the Supervisory Board, 

and the actual costs incurred by the members of the Super-

visory Board related to the performance of their obligations 

were compensated. 

Activities

The work of the Eesti Telekom Supervisory Board (loca-

tion, meetings, resolutions, and minutes of the Supervisory 

Board) is organized according to the Supervisory Board regu-

lations approved by them. In 2007, the Supervisory Board 

held eleven meetings. The Management Board presented 

reports to the Supervisory Board on the economic activities 

and fi nancial status of the Eesti Telekom group on a regular 

basis. The Supervisory Board was provided a summary of the 

topics discussed by the Auditing Committee and the Com-

mittee on Remuneration and Appointments, including the 
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results of the audits conducted by the internal and external 

auditors. During 2007, the Supervisory Board approved the 

2006 Annual Report, the bonuses to be paid to the top man-

agement of the Eesti Telekom group for 2006, the Group’s 

business plan for 2008-2009, the Group’s budget for 2008 

and the motivational system for the top management of the 

Group for 2008, drew up the agendas for the general meet-

ings of shareholders, approved the restructuring of the Eesti 

Telekom group and acquisition of AS MicroLink Eesti from 

Elion Ettevõtted AS, and decided on recalling and election 

of Management Board members and signing of contracts of 

service with Management Board members. 

Confl ict of Interests

Pursuant to the law and the articles of association, decisions 

regarding transactions between members of the Supervisory 

Board and Eesti Telekom are under the authority of the gen-

eral meeting, and the members of the Supervisory Board 

may not compete with Eesti Telekom without the permission 

of the shareholders’ general meeting. Until the compilation 

of this report, the members of the Supervisory Board have 

not notifi ed the Eesti Telekom Management Board of any 

cases of confl ict of interests in 2007. 

Hence, as regards the work of the Supervisory Board of Eesti 

Telekom, the Principles were adhered to in 2007.

Management Board

Duties

The Management Board is the Eesti Telekom management 

body that deals with the management of everyday econom-

ic activities and the representation of Eesti Telekom. Eesti 

Telekom may be represented in all legal acts by Valdo Kalm 

alone or two Management Board members jointly. For the 

achievement of Eesti Telekom’s objectives, the Management 

Board analyzes the risks related to Eesti Telekom’s activities 

and fi nancial targets. By its resolution, the Management 

Board of Eesti Telekom has established the Eesti Telekom 

group’s rules for handling of inside information and other 

internal rules, e.g. accounting policies and procedures. The 

Management Board must comply with the legitimate regula-

tions of the Supervisory Board. In 2007, there was a constant 

exchange of information between the Management Board 

and Supervisory Board of Eesti Telekom; among other things, 

the Management Board submitted reviews on the economic 

activities and fi nancial status of the Eesti Telekom group to 

the Supervisory Board on a regular basis. 

Members and Remuneration

According to the Eesti Telekom articles of association, the Su-

pervisory Board may elect two to fi ve members to the Man-

agement Board. The members of the Management Board 

are elected for three years with the option of extending the 

term. The Supervisory Board appoints one Management 

Board member as the Chairman, who also acts as the com-

pany’s Managing Director. As at 1 January 2007, the mem-

bers of the Management Board of Eesti Telekom were Jaan 

Männik (the Chairman), Valdo Kalm, and Hille Võrk. 

In pursuance of a resolution of the Eesti Telekom Supervi-

sory Board, dated 5 December 2006, Valdo Kalm took over 

the position of the Chairman of Eesti Telekom’s Management 

Board from the former Chairman, Jaan Männik, after the 

annual shareholders’ meeting of Eesti Telekom held on 22 

May 2007. By a resolution adopted on the same day, the 

Supervisory Board also decided to recall Jaan Männik from 

the position of a Management Board member as from 22 

May 2007. 

On 18 April 2007, the Supervisory Board of Eesti Telekom 

decided to elect the following new members to the Man-

agement Board of Eesti Telekom as from 1 July 2007: Leho 

Tamm, Valdur Laid, and Enn Saar. By a resolution adopted 

on the same day, the Supervisory Board decided to recall 

the former Management Board member, Hille Võrk, from the 

Management Board as from 1 July 2007. 

The term of offi ce of the current members will expire on 

the following dates: on 1 January 2010 in the case of Valdo 

Kalm; and on 1 July 2010 in the case of Leho Tamm, Valdur 

Laid, and Enn Saar.

The salaries and severance pay of the members of the Man-

agement Board, and the payment conditions are determined 

by the contracts of service concluded with the members of 

the Management Board. The bonus system for members of 

the Management Board is approved annually by a resolu-

tion of the Supervisory Board. Upon the achievement of the 

maximum level of the objectives for 2007, the members of 

the Management Board would receive a bonus equal to six 

months’ salary. The retired Chairman of the Management 

Board, Jaan Männik, also has a pension agreement with Eesti 

Telekom. In 2007, Eesti Telekom did not comply with clause 

2.2.7 of the Principles, which provides for disclosing the ben-

efi ts and bonus system of each member of the Manage-

ment Board on the website and in this report, as well as the 

presentation of the principles for the remuneration of the 

members of the Management Board at the general meeting. 

On 13 December 2005, the Eesti Telekom Supervisory Board 

decided that, at that time, the disclosure of such information 

was not in the interests of the Eesti Telekom group and it 

would not provide an adequate overview of the motivational 

system for the Group’s top management. Currently, there are 

no share option programs in the Eesti Telekom group.

Confl ict of Interests

Pursuant to the law and the articles of association, trans-

actions between members of the Management Board and 

Eesti Telekom must be approved by the Supervisory Board, 

and members of the Management Board may not compete 

with Eesti Telekom without the permission of the Supervi-

sory Board. Until the compilation of this report, the members 

of the Management Board have not notifi ed the Eesti Tel-

ekom Management Board of any cases of confl ict of interests 

in 2007. 

Therefore, in 2007, the Principles were followed in the work 

of the Eesti Telekom Management Board, except for the rule 

prescribed by clause 2.2.7 of the Principles.

Control Functions and Auditing

In addition to a reporting system and procedures for risk man-

agement, the Eesti Telekom Supervisory Board and Manage-

ment Board have established various control functions. 
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Auditing Committee

The Auditing Committee helps the Supervisory Board to perform 

its supervisory function. Until 6 February 2007, the Committee 

members were Mats Salomonsson (Committee Chairman), 

Hans Tuvehjelm, and Tarmo Porgand. As from 6 February 2007, 

Jörgen Latte is a member of the Committee instead of Hans 

Tuvehjelm. During 2007, the Committee met seven times. 

External Auditors

According to the articles of association, the auditor(s) are cho-

sen by the general meeting. In 2007, the Eesti Telekom auditor 

was AS PricewaterhouseCoopers. AS PricewaterhouseCoopers 

audited all the companies in the Eesti Telekom group and sub-

mitted the auditor’s report to the general meeting. The audi-

tors also informed the Auditing Committee and Management 

Boards of the Group’s companies of their observations. 

Internal Control

Since April 2002, the internal control service has been out-

sourced from AS Deloitte & Touche Audit. The Audit Commit-

tee and Deloitte agree upon the extent of the internal control 

projects once a year. Deloitte reports on the completed work 

to the Audit Committee. 

Committee on Remuneration and Appointments

The principal function of the Committee on Remuneration 

and Appointments is to harmonize the remuneration princi-

ples for the top management of the Eesti Telekom group and 

to make proposals for the appointment of Supervisory Board 

members and their remuneration. Until 6 February 2007, Erik 

Hallberg (Committee Chairman), Bengt Andersson, and Aare 

Tark were the members of the Committee. As from 6 Febru-

ary 2007, the Committee comprised the following members: 

Terje Christoffersen (Committee Chairman), Anders Gylder, 

and Aare Tark. By its resolution of 20 September 2007, the 

Supervisory Board of Eesti Telekom elected Mats Salomons-

son as the new Chairman of the Committee. During 2007, 

the Committee met four times.

Disclosure of Information

The information required by the Principles is available on 

the Eesti Telekom website www.telekom.ee, including the 

fi nancial calendar, articles of association, fi nancial reports, 

information on presentations and meetings with analysts, 

information on the members of the Supervisory Board and 

Management Board, the auditors, and other information. 

Therefore, in 2007, Eesti Telekom complied with the Princi-

ples in terms of the disclosure of information.

Financial Reporting

Eesti Telekom prepares its accounting reports in accord-

ance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

as adopted by the European Union (IFRS). In respect to the 

disclosure of fi nancial reporting, Eesti Telekom proceeds from 

the provisions of the law and the regulations of the Tallinn 

Stock Exchange.

Interim report for the fi rst quar-
ter of 2007 

19 April 2007

Interim report for the second 
quarter and fi rst half-year of 
2007

19 July 2007

Interim report for the third quar-
ter and nine months of 2007

19 October 2007

Interim report for 2007 and the 
fourth quarter of 2007

6 February 2008

MANAGEMENT BOARD’S CONFIRMATION OF THE MANAGEMENT REPORT

The Management Board confi rms that the management report of AS Eesti Telekom set out on pages 3 to 13 
presents a true and fair view of the business developments and results of the fi nancial position, and includes the 
description of major risks and doubts for the parent company and consolidated companies as a group.

Name Position Signature

Valdo Kalm Chairman of the Board 

Leho Tamm Member of the Board 

Valdur Laid Member of the Board  

Enn Saar Member of the Board  

Tallinn, 25 March 2008
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MANAGEMENT BOARD’S CONFIRMATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Management Board confi rms the correctness and completeness of the consolidated fi nancial statements of 
the AS Eesti Telekom group for the year 2007 as set out on pages 14 to 52. 

The Management Board confi rms that: 

1 the accounting principles used in preparing the fi nancial statements are in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union;  

2 the fi nancial statements present a true and fair view of the fi nancial position, the results of operations and the 
cash fl ows of the Group; 

3 Group companies are continuing their operations as a going concern. 

Name Position Signature 

Valdo Kalm Chairman of the Board 

Leho Tamm Member of the Board 

Valdur Laid Member of the Board  

Enn Saar Member of the Board  

Tallinn, 25 March 2008

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Consolidated Income Statement

Notes
Year ended 

31 December 2007
Year ended 

31 December 2006

Revenue 2 (a, b), 3 (a)  6,261,002  5,767,734 

Cost of sales 2 (a), 3 (b)  (3,542,791)  (3,260,113)

Gross profi t  2,718,211  2,507,621 

Sales, administrative and research & development expenses 3 (b)  (900,011)  (908,854)

Other operating income 3 (d)  28,114 53,011

Other operating expenses 3 (d)  (6,336) (5,405) 

Operating profi t  1,839,978  1,646,373 

Finance income 3 (f)  48,626 42,768

Finance costs 3 (f)  (2,342)  (1,950) 

Finance income, net  46,284  40,818 

Share of profi t/(loss) from associates 2 (a)  (3,817)  193 

Profi t before tax  1,882,445  1,687,384 

Income tax on dividends 4  (370,897)  (373,377)

Net profi t for the period  1,511,548  1,314,007 

Attributable to:

   – Equity holders of the Company  1,505,098  1,309,443 

   – Minority interest  6,450  4,564 

 1,511,548  1,314,007 

Earnings per share for profi t attributable to the equity holders of the 
Company during the year 

18 (e)

Basic earnings per share (in EEK)  10.91  9.49 

Diluted earnings per share (in EEK)  10.91  9.49 

The notes presented on pages 19 to 52 are an integral part of the consolidated fi nancial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
 Notes As at 31 December 2007 As at 31 December 2006

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5  2,405,114  2,044,595 

Intangible assets 7  216,011  214,046 

Investments in associates 10  13,422  17,247 

Other non-current receivables 12, 13  115,059  119,139 

Total non-current assets  2,749,606  2,395,027 

Current assets

Assets classifi ed as held-for-sale 5  1,732  771 

Inventories 14  187,573  142,692 

Trade and other receivables 15  992,939  884,212 

Short-term investments 16  694,040  1,064,859 

Cash and cash equivalents 17  396,778  324,405 

Total current assets  2,273,062  2,416,939 

TOTAL ASSETS  5,022,668  4,811,966 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company 18

Share capital  1,379,545  1,379,545 

Share premium  356,018  356,018 

Statutory legal reserve  137,955  137,955 

Retained earnings  2,429,361 2,234,831 

Total capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company  4,302,879  4,108,349 

Minority interest  11,480  5,030 

Total capital and reserves  4,314,359  4,113,379 

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 19 (a)  1,343  3,124 

Retirement benefi t obligations 21  3,239  7,912 

Provisions 22  20,673  22,124 

Non-interest bearing liabilities 23  -  5,152 

Total non-current liabilities  25,255  38,312 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 24  670,989  651,365 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 19 (b)  2,778  2,742 

Retirement benefi t obligations 21  4,814  865 

Provisions 22  4,473  5,303 

Total current liabilities  683,054  660,275 

Total liabilities  708,309  698,587 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  5,022,668  4,811,966 

The notes presented on pages 19 to 52 are an integral part of the consolidated fi nancial statements.
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Consolidated Statement Of Changes In Equity
Notes Attributable to equity holders of the Company Minority interest Total equity

 
Share capital Share premium

Statutory 
legal reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

1 January 2006 1,379,545 356,018 137,955 2,165,819 4,039,337 1,160 4,040,497

Dividends paid 18 (c) - - - (1,241,591) (1,241,591) - (1,241,591)

Minority interest arising on busi-
ness combinations

- - - 1,160 1,160 (694) 466

Total changes - - - (1 240,431) (1,240,431) (694) (1,241,125)

Net profi t for the period - - - 1,309,443  1,309,443  4,564  1,314,007 

31 December 2006 1,379,545 356,018 137,955 2,234,831  4,108,349  5,030  4,113,379 

1 January 2007 1,379,545 356,018 137,955 2,234,831  4,108,349  5,030  4,113,379 

Dividends paid 18 (c) - - -  (1,310,568)  (1,310,568) -  (1,310,568)

Total changes - - -  (1,310,568)  (1,310,568)  -  (1,310,568)

Net profi t for the period - - -  1,505,098  1,505,098  6,450  1,511,548 

31 December 2007 1,379,545 356,018 137,955 2,429,361  4,302,879  11,480  4,314,359 

The notes presented on pages 19 to 52 are an integral part of the consolidated fi nancial statements.



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  O F  T H E  E E S T I  T E L E K O M  G R O U P  2 0 0 718

Financial Statements

Translation of the Estonian original
In thousands of Estonian kroons

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
 

Notes
Year ended 

31 December 2007
Year ended 

31 December 2006 

Net cash from operating activities 28  1,902,001  1,898,514

Cash fl ows from investing activities

Tangible and intangible fi xed assets acquired 5, 7  (861,490)  (749,876)

Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible fi xed assets  14,768  49,599 

Acquisition of business net of cash acquired and settlements of deferred consideration 9 (4,934) (97,591)

Acquisition of associates - (14,100)

Net cash changes of short-term investments  369,746  177,785 

Net cash changes of other long-term receivables  (36,073)  (130,548)

Repayments of loans granted to associates - 4,100

Net cash used in investing activities  (517,983)  (760,631)

Cash fl ow before fi nancing activities  1,384,018  1,137,883 

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

Dividends paid 19 (c)  (1,310,568) (1,241,591)

Repayments of fi nance lease liabilities 6 (1,819) (1,704)

Proceeds from non-convertible debts 1,020 -

Net cash used in fi nancing activities  (1,311,367)  (1,243,295)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  72,651  (105,412)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 16  324,405  430,393 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  72,651  (105,412)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  (278)  (576)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 16  396,778  324,405 

The notes presented on pages 19 to 52 are an integral part of the consolidated fi nancial statements.
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Notes To The Financial Statements

1. General information and summary of signifi cant accounting policies

GENERAL INFORMATION

The main activity of AS Eesti Telekom group is providing serv-

ices in the fi eld of telecommunications.

AS Eesti Telekom (registration number: 10234957; address: 

Valge 16, 19095 Tallinn, Estonia) is a holding company regis-

tered and operating in the Republic of Estonia, with subsidiar-

ies providing services in the fi eld of telecommunications. Start-

ing in 1999, the shares of AS Eesti Telekom are listed on the 

Tallinn and London Stock Exchanges (OMX: ETLAT/LSE: EETD).

The parent of AS Eesti Telekom is Baltic Tele AB, which is the 

holding company. Baltic Tele AB is subsidiary of TeliaSonera 

AB, which is domiciled in Stockholm, and is the ultimate con-

trolling party of AS Eesti Telekom. The largest shareholder of 

TeliaSonera AB is Swedish State with 37.3%.

The 2007 consolidated statements for the AS Eesti Telekom 

include the fi nancial results for the following companies: 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES

Signifi cant accounting policies adopted in the preparation 

of the fi nancial statements of AS Eesti Telekom (the parent 

company) and its subsidiary companies (together referred as 

“the Group”) are set out below. 

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 

presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Eesti Telekom 

group are prepared in accordance with the International Fi-

nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the Euro-

pean Union.

The functional currency of AS Eesti Telekom is Estonian kroon 

(EEK). The fi nancial statements are presented in thousand of 

Estonian kroons (EEK), unless indicated otherwise.

The fi nancial statements are prepared on the historical cost 

convention except for certain fi nancial instruments that are 

stated at their fair value.

These group consolidated fi nancial statements were author-

ised for issue by the Management Board on 25 March 2008.

New International Financial Reporting Standards, amend-
ments to existing standards and interpretations of the In-
ternational Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC)

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2007 

• IFRS 7, 'Financial instruments: Disclosures', and the com-

plementary amendment to IAS 1, 'Presentation of fi nan-

cial statements – Capital disclosures', introduces new dis-

closures relating to fi nancial instruments and does not 

have any impact on the classifi cation and valuation of the 

group’s fi nancial instruments, or the disclosures relating 

to taxation and trade and other payables.

• IFRIC 10, 'Interim fi nancial reporting and impairment', 

prohibits the impairment losses recognised in an interim 

period on goodwill and investments in equity instruments 

and in fi nancial assets carried at cost to be reversed at a 

subsequent balance sheet date. This standard does not 

have any impact on the group’s fi nancial statements.
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Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 

2007 but not relevant

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to 

published standards are mandatory for accounting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2007 but they are not rel-

evant to the Group’s operations:

• IFRS 4, 'Insurance contracts’

• IFRIC 7, 'Applying the restatement approach under IAS 

29, Financial reporting in hyper-infl ationary economies'

• IFRIC 8, 'Scope of IFRS 2'

• IFRIC 9, 'Re-assessment of embedded derivatives'.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing 

standards that are not yet effective and have not been 

early adopted by the group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to 

existing standards have been published and are mandatory 

for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2008 or later periods, but the group has not early 

adopted them: 

• IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2009). IFRS 8 supersedes 

IAS 14 “Segment Reporting”. The standard specifi es new 

requirements in respect of the disclosure of information 

on business segments, as well as information on prod-

ucts and services, geographical areas where the busi-

ness is conducted and major customers. IFRS 8 requires 

a “managerial approach” to reporting the performance 

of business segments. The Group is currently assessing 

what impact the standard will have on segment disclo-

sures in the consolidated fi nancial statements.

• IAS 23, Borrowing Costs (effective for annual periods be-

ginning on or after 1 January 2009). The main change to 

IAS 23 is the removal of the option of immediately recog-

nising as an expense borrowing costs that relate to assets 

that take a substantial period of time to get ready for 

use or sale. An entity is, therefore, required to capitalise 

such borrowing costs as part of the cost of the asset. The 

revised standard applies prospectively to borrowing costs 

relating to qualifying assets for which the commence-

ment date for capitalisation is on or after 1 January 2009. 

The Group does not expect the amendment to affect its 

consolidated fi nancial statements.

• IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The 

main change in IAS 1 is the replacement of the income 

statement by a statement of comprehensive income 

which will also include all non-owner changes in equity, 

such as the revaluation of available-for-sale fi nancial as-

sets. Alternatively, entities will be allowed to present two 

statements: a separate income statement and a state-

ment of comprehensive income. The revised IAS 1 also 

introduces a requirement to present a statement of fi -

nancial position (balance sheet) at the beginning of the 

earliest comparative period whenever the entity restates 

comparatives due to reclassifi cations, changes in account-

ing policies, or corrections of errors. The Group expects 

the revised IAS 1 to affect the presentation of its fi nancial 

statements but to have no impact on the recognition or 

measurement of specifi c transactions and balances.

• IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 

2009). The revised standard requires that the effects of 

transactions with minority shareholders be recognised 

directly in equity, on the condition that control over the 

entity is retained by the parent company. In addition, the 

Standard elaborates on the accounting treatment of the 

loss of control over a subsidiary, i.e. it requires that the re-

maining shares be restated to fair value, with the result-

ing difference recognised in the income statement. The 

Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended 

standard on its consolidated fi nancial statements.

• IFRS 3, Business Combinations (effective for business 

combinations for which the acquisition date is on or 

after the beginning of the fi rst annual reporting period 

beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The revised IFRS 3 

includes the choice to disclose minority interests either 

at fair value or their share in the fair value of the net 

assets identifi ed; a restatement of shares already held 

in an acquired entity to fair value, with the resulting dif-

ferences to be recognised in the income statement; and 

additional guidance on the application of the purchase 

method, including the recognition of transaction costs as 

an expense in the period in which they were incurred, 

measuring goodwill in step acquisition, and recognising 

post-acquisition changes in value of liability for contingent 

purchase consideration. The Group is currently assessing 

the impact of the amended standard on its consolidated 

fi nancial statements.

• IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

March 2007). The interpretation contains guidelines on 

the following issues: applying IFRS 2 “Share-based Pay-

ment” for transactions of payment with shares which are 

entered into by two or more related entities; and adopt-

ing an accounting approach in the following instances: 

an entity grants its employees rights to its equity instru-

ments that may or must be repurchased from a third par-

ty in order to settle obligations towards the employees; 

or an entity or its owner grants the entity's employees 

rights to the entity's equity instruments, and the provider 

of those instruments is the owner of the entity. The Group 

is currently assessing the impact of the interpretation on 

its consolidated fi nancial statements.

• IFRIC 13, 'Customer loyalty programmes' (effective for an-

nual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008). IFRIC 13 

includes guidance on the accounting treatment of trans-

actions resulting from loyalty programmes implemented 

by an entity for its customers, such as loyalty cards or 

awarding of ‘points’. In particular, IFRIC 13 indicates the 

correct accounting for the entity’s obligation to provide 

free or discounted goods or services if and when the cus-

tomers redeem the points. The Group is currently assess-

ing the impact of the Interpretation on its consolidated 

fi nancial statements.
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Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective 
and not relevant for the group’s operations

The following interpretations to existing standards have been 

published and are mandatory for the group’s accounting peri-

ods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 or later periods but 

are not relevant for the group’s operations:

• Puttable fi nancial instruments and obligations arising on 

liquidation—IAS 32 and IAS 1 Amendment (effective from 

1 January 2009).

• Vesting Conditions and Cancellations—Amendment to 

IFRS 2, Share-based Payment (effective for annual peri-

ods beginning on or after 1 January 2008).

• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008).

• IFRIC 14, IAS 19—The Limit on a Defi ned Benefi t Asset, 

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Janu-

ary 2008).

Currently, the following IASB pronouncements have not yet 

endorsed for use in Europe:

• IFRS 2 ,’Share-based payment: vesting conditions and 

cancellations

• IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’(2008)

• IAS 1, ‘Presentation of fi nancial statements’ (revised Sep-

tember 2007

• IAS 23, ‘Borrowings Costs’ (revised March 2007)

• IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and separate fi nancial statements’ 

(2008)

• IAS 32, ‘Amendments for puttable instruments and obli-

gations arising on liquidation

• IFRIC 12, ‘Service concession arrangements

• IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’

• IFRIC 14, IAS 19 – ‘The limit on a defi ned benefi t asset, 

minimum funding requirements, and their interaction’. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 

fi nancial year. Estimates and judgements are continually 

evaluated and are based on management’s experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Man-

agement also makes certain judgements, apart from those 

involving estimations, in the process of applying the account-

ing policies. Judgements that have the most signifi cant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements and 

estimates that can cause a signifi cant adjustment to the car-

rying amount of assets and liabilities within the next fi nan-

cial year include.

a) Recognition of intangible assets in business combinations

 The group allocates the cost of a business combination 

to separately identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities, including any intangible assets of the acquirer. 

Identifi cation of separable intangible assets and deter-

mination of their fair value requires judgement. In the 

course of its recent acquisitions the group has recognised 

intangible assets in respect of certain trademarks and 

contractual customer relationships (see Notes 7 and 9). 

The fair values of those assets were assessed by external 

valuation experts. 

b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intan-

gible assets

 The carrying values of the Group’s intangible, tangible, 

and fi nancial fi xed assets are reassessed, at least annual-

ly and else whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be 

recoverable, by analyzing individual assets or classes of 

assets that essentially belong together. If an analysis in-

dicates that the value recorded is too high, the asset’s 

recoverable value is set, which is the higher of the fair 

value less cost to sell of the asset and its value in use. 

Value in use is measured as expected future discounted 

cash fl ows (DCF model). A write-down consists of the dif-

ference between carrying value and recoverable value.

 A number of signifi cant assumptions and estimates 

are involved in using DCF models to forecast operating 

cash fl ows, for example with respect to factors such as 

market growth rates, revenue volumes, market prices 

for telecommunications services, costs to maintain and 

develop communications networks and working capital 

requirements. Forecasts of future cash fl ows are based 

on the best estimates of future revenues and operating 

expenses using historical trends, general market condi-

tions, industry trends and forecasts and other available 

information. These assumptions are subject to review 

by Management Board. The cash fl ow forecasts are ad-

justed by an appropriate discount rate derived from our 

cost of capital plus a reasonable risk premium at the date 

of evaluation. If the projections for future cash fl ows for 

any of the Group have fi xed assets change as a result of 

changes in business model or strategy, competitive pres-

sures, or regulatory environment, the Group may have 

to recognize impairment charges on the intangible and 

tangible fi xed assets.

c) Non-capitalization of customer acquisition costs

 Often, the customer acquisition costs cannot be distin-

guished from the cost of maintaining customers or gen-

eral marketing costs or running day-to-day sales opera-

tions. As the Group is unable to reliably measure the 

extent to which costs relate directly to the acquisition 

of customers rather than to general sales and marketing 

efforts, it has been decided to expense all such costs as 

incurred.

d) Useful lives of telecommunication equipment and soft-

ware 

 The Company’s management determines the estimated 

useful lives and the related depreciation and amortisa-

tion charges for its telecommunication equipment and 

software. The estimate is based on the projected tech-

nology and related software lifecycles. It could change 

signifi cantly as a result of technical innovations and 

competitor actions in response to voice and data trans-

mission. On the contrary, if no signifi cant technological 
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changes occur, the equipment might be used longer than 

currently estimated.

 Network assets form the largest part of the Group’s tan-

gible assets. If useful lives of network assets would be 

longer by 10%, depreciation costs of the Group would be 

down by 29.7 million EEK.

e) Provisions and contingent assets and liabilities

 In estimating the probability of realisation of contingent 

assets and liabilities the management is considering the 

historical experience, general information about the eco-

nomical and social environment and the assumptions 

and conditions of the possible events in the future based 

on the best knowledge of the situation.

 Provisions for restructuring costs, environmental resto-

ration, are recognized when: a legal or constructive ob-

ligation exists as a result of past events; it is probable 

that an outfl ow of resources will be required to settle 

the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of 

the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at 

management’s best estimate of the expenditure required 

to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, and are 

discounted to present value where the effect is material.

 Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 

probability that an outfl ow will be required in settlement 

is determined by considering the class of obligations as a 

whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of 

an outfl ow with respect to any one item included in the 

same class of obligations may be small but it is probable 

that some outfl ow of resources will be needed to settle 

the class of obligations as a whole.

f) Impairment provision for accounts receivable

 Impairment provision for accounts receivable was deter-

mined based on the management’s estimates on recov-

erability and timing relating to the amounts that will not 

be collectable according to the original terms of receiva-

bles. This determination requires signifi cant judgement. 

Judgement is exercised based on signifi cant fi nancial 

diffi culties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 

enter bankruptcy or fi nancial reorganisation, and default 

or delinquency in payments. Current estimates of the 

Company could change signifi cantly as a result of change 

in situation in the market and the economy as a whole. 

Recoverability rate also highly depends on success rate 

and actions employed relating to recovery of signifi cantly 

overdue amounts receivable.

Principles of consolidation

a) Subsidiaries

 Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has 

the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies 

generally accompanying a shareholding of more than 

one half of the voting rights. Control is presumed to ex-

ist where more than one half of the subsidiary’s voting 

power is controlled by the parent company, or the parent 

company is able to govern the fi nancial and operation 

policies of the subsidiary, or control the removal or ap-

pointment of a majority of the subsidiary’s supervisory 

council.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements include all subsidi-

aries that are controlled by the parent company. Inter-

company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 

transactions between group companies are eliminated. 

Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an 

impairment indicator of the asset transferred. 

 Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 

control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consoli-

dated from the date that control ceases.

 The purchase method of accounting is used to account for 

the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of 

an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets 

given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or 

assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly at-

tributable to the acquisition. Identifi able assets acquired 

and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a busi-

ness combination are measured initially at their fair val-

ues at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of 

any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition 

over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifi able 

net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost 

of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets 

of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised 

directly in the income statement.

 Group companies use in all material aspects the same 

accounting principles. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 

have been changed where necessary to ensure consist-

ency with the policies adopted by the Group. In case the 

accounting principles are changed, the comparative data 

from previous periods is also changed retrospectively. 

 The information of the Group’s subsidiaries is disclosed in 

Note 8.

b) Associates

 Associates are all entities over which the Group has sig-

nifi cant infl uence but not control, generally accompany-

ing a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the vot-

ing rights. Investments in associates are accounted for 

using the equity method of accounting and are initially 

recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates 

includes goodwill identifi ed on acquisition, net of any ac-

cumulated impairment loss.

 The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profi ts 

or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its 

share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recog-

nised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition move-

ments are adjusted against the carrying amount of the 

investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an asso-

ciate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, includ-

ing any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not 

recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations 

or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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 Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and 

its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 

interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also elimi-

nated unless the transaction provides evidence of an im-

pairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 

associates have been changed where necessary to ensure 

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

 The information of the Group’s associates is disclosed in 

Note 10.

c)  Transactions and minority interests

 The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with 

minority interests as transactions with parties external to 

the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains 

and losses for the Group that is recorded in the income 

statement. Purchases from minority interests result in 

goodwill, being the difference between any consideration 

paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value 

of net assets of the subsidiary.

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate 

of exchange quoted by the Bank of Estonia on the transac-

tion date. On the balance sheet date, monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at 

the rate of exchange quoted by the Bank of Estonia on that 

date. Respective exchange differences are recognised in the 

income statement for the year.

The exchange rates used in the fi nancial statements were 

the following:

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is carried at its cost less any 

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 

loss. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attrib-

utable to the acquisition of the items (including the custom 

duties and other non refundable taxes). Cost includes direct 

and indirect costs related to acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment necessary to bring them to their present state 

and condition, as well as estimates of the costs of disman-

tling and removing the item and restoring the site on which 

it is located, the obligation for which an entity incurs either 

when the item is acquired or as a consequence of having 

used the item. The cost of self-constructed fi xed assets in-

cludes the cost of materials and direct labour.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 

or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 

it is probable that future economic benefi ts associated with 

the item will fl ow to the Group and the cost of the item can 

be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 

part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are 

charged to the income statement during the fi nancial period 

in which they are incurred.

If the fi xed asset object consists of components, which have 

signifi cantly different useful lives, the components will be 

recorded as independent fi xed asset objects, with separate 

depreciation rates assigned according to their useful life. 

Groups of fi xed assets with similar estimated useful lives will 

be recorded as aggregates. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be 

less than its carrying amount, the assets are presented at 

their estimated recoverable value. Recoverable value is 

equivalent to the higher of a particular asset’s fair value 

less costs to sell, or value in use. The anticipated future 

discounted cash fl ows are used as the basis for determining 

value in use (see also part of accounting polices “Impair-

ment of non-fi nancial assets”). Impairment losses in fi xed 

assets are expressed as an increase in accumulated depre-

ciation and are recognised as an expense in the income 

statement. A recovery in value in use is recognised as a 

reversal of impairment loss.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated 

using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their 

residual values over their estimated useful lives. Deprecia-

tion rates are set separately to each asset depending on 

its estimated useful life. Depreciation of an asset is started 

when it is available for use, i.e. when it is in the location 

and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 

in the manner intended by management. Depreciation 

of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that asset is 

classifi ed as held for sale (or included in a disposal group 

that is classifi ed as held for sale) and the date the asset is 

derecognised. Depreciation does not cease when the asset 

becomes idle or is retired from the active use unless the 

asset is fully depreciated.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and 

adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately 

to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 

higher than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by compar-

ing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the 

income statement.

At the beginning of 2006, TeliaSonera introduced new uni-

form useful life spans for the fi xed assets of its 100% sub-

sidiaries. As the result of a thorough analysis, the companies 

in the Eesti Telekom group also decided to introduce the 

depreciation periods suggested by TeliaSonera (with some 

adjustments based on local peculiarities) in Eesti Telekom, 

starting on 1 May 2006. Implementation of new periods was 

applied prospectively. The remaining useful life spans of ex-

isting fi xed assets were adjusted. 

Exchange rate in 2007 Exchange rate in 2006

As of 
31 December Average 

As of 
31 December Average

EUR 15.64660 15.64660 15.64660 15.64660

USD 10.63820 11.43807 11.88180 12.46499

SEK 1.66168 1.69194 1.72897 1.690088

LTL 4.53157 4.53157 4.53157 4.53157

LVL 22.45050 22.35044 22.43340 22.47352

GBP 21.27050 22.88405 23.29970 22.94559

RUB 0.43481 0.44698 0.45123 0.45859

SDR 16.80590 17.49721 17.86470 18.33818
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The following depreciation rates are used by the Group:

Until 1 May 2006 Since 1 May 2006

Buildings 3-8% 
per annum

2-12% 
per annum

Telecommunication 
networks equipment

10-40% 
per annum

3-20% 
per annum

Other equipment 
and fi xtures

10-50% 
per annum

20-30% 
per annum

Intangible assets 
(excl. goodwill)

Individual, 
10-20% per annum

Individual

Land is not depreciated.

Leases

Leases of plant and equipment under which the Group as-

sumes substantially all risks and rewards of ownership are 

classifi ed as fi nance leases. 

Leases in which a signifi cant portion of the risks and rewards 

of ownership are retained by the lessor are classifi ed as op-

erating leases. 

a) The Group as lessor

 Amounts due from lessees under fi nance leases are re-

corded as receivables at the amount of the net invest-

ment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to 

accounting periods so as to refl ect a constant periodic 

rate of return on the net investment outstanding in re-

spect of the leases.

 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on 

a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, irre-

spectively from collection of relevant receivables. As-

sets leased under operating lease are recorded on the 

balance sheet in conventional rules similarly to that for 

other Group’s assets.

b) The Group as lessee

 Assets held under fi nance leases are recognised as assets 

of the Group at their fair value at the date of acquisi-

tion or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 

lease payments. The corresponding liability to the les-

sor is included in the balance sheet as a fi nance lease 

obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between 

fi nance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so 

as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remain-

ing balance of the liability. Finance charges are recorded 

in income statement on accrual basis of accounting, un-

less they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in 

which case they are capitalised in accordance with the 

group’s general policy on borrowing costs. 

 Finance leased assets are depreciated in accordance with 

the depreciation policy described above, with the depre-

ciation period being the estimated useful life of the asset. 

 Payments made under operating leases (net of any in-

centives received from the lessor) are charged to the in-

come statement on a straight-line basis over the period 

of the lease.

Intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition 

over the fair value of the identifi able net assets acquired. 

Goodwill is recognised as an intangible asset in the Group’s 

consolidated fi nancial statements and it shall be not amor-

tised. Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for 

impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment 

losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed (see 

“Impairment of non-fi nancial assets”). Gains and losses on 

the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of 

goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Other intangible assets: licenses, patents, trademarks 
and client contracts are stated at the lower of the carrying 

or recoverable amount and are amortised on the straight-

line method over their estimated useful lives (individual for 

each asset object with depreciation rates 10-20% per an-

num). Amortisation expenses are recorded in the income 

statement. Recoverable value is equivalent to the higher of 

a particular asset’s sale price, from which sales costs have 

been deducted, and value in use. The anticipated discounted 

cash fl ows for the coming year are used as the basis for 

determining value in use (see also part of accounting polices 

“Impairment of non-fi nancial assets”). 

Amortisation of the third generation mobile communications 

license acquired by AS EMT started in August 2003 and will 

continue for ten years.

Research and development expenditure

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as in-

curred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating to 

the design and testing of new or improved products) are 

recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria 

are fulfi lled:

(a) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset 

so that it will be available for use or sale;

(b) management intends to complete the intangible asset 

and use or sell it;

(c) there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(d) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will 

generate probable future economic benefi ts;

(e) adequate technical, fi nancial and other resources to com-

plete the development and to use or sell the intangible 

asset are available; and

(f) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset dur-

ing its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible 

assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is 

ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life, not 

exceeding fi ve years.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these cri-

teria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development 

costs previously recognised as an expense are not recog-

nised as an asset in a subsequent period. 

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classifi ed as as-

sets held for sale and stated at the lower of carrying amount 



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  O F  T H E  E E S T I  T E L E K O M  G R O U P  2 0 0 725

Notes To The Financial Statements

Translation of the Estonian original
In thousands of Estonian kroons

and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is 

recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 

through a continuing use.

Impairment of non-fi nancial assets

Assets that have an indefi nite useful life are not subject to 

amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for im-

pairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-

cate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 

the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 

less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of as-

sessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 

for which there are separately identifi able cash fl ows (cash-

generating units). 

Impairment losses are recognised as period expenses. 

Non-fi nancial assets other than goodwill that suffered im-

pairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impair-

ment at each reporting date. 

Inventories

Inventories for resale are recorded at cost, which comprises 

purchase price, non-refundable taxes as well as transporta-

tion and other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 

inventories, less discounts.

Inventories are stated at the lower of acquisition cost and net 

realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 

costs necessary to make the sale. 

Cost is determined by the fi rst-in, fi rst-out method.

Financial assets and liabilities

Cash, shares and other securities, trade receivables, accrued 

income and other short and long-term receivables are con-

sidered to be fi nancial assets. Trade payables, accrued ex-

penses and other short and long-term payables are consid-

ered to be fi nancial liabilities.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at cost, 

which is the fair value of consideration given or received to 

acquire the fi nancial asset or liability. All costs directly con-

nected with the fi nancial asset or obligations are included in 

the acquisition price.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the balance 

sheet when the ownership title is transferred to the Group 

in accordance with the terms of the contract for the fi nancial 

asset or liability. 

a) Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets 

with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market. They are included in current assets, 

except for maturities greater than 12 months after the 

balance sheet date. These are classifi ed as non-current 

assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade 

and other receivables’ and cash and cash equivalents in 

the balance sheet.

b) Held-to-maturity fi nancial assets

 Held-to-maturity fi nancial assets are non-derivative fi nan-

cial assets with fi xed or determinable payments and fi xed 

maturities that the Group’s management has the positive 

intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity 

fi nancial assets are recognised initially at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the ef-

fective interest method, less provision for impairment. If 

the Group were to sell other than an insignifi cant amount 

of held-to-maturity fi nancial assets, the whole category 

would be tainted and reclassifi ed as available for sale. 

Held-to-maturity fi nancial assets are included in non-cur-

rent assets, except for those with maturities less than 12 

months from the balance sheet date, which are classifi ed 

as current assets.

 On disposal of an investment, the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is 

charged or credited to income for the fi nancial year.

 The fair values of quoted investments are based on cur-

rent bid prices. If the market for a fi nancial asset is not 

active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes 

fair value by using valuation techniques. These include 

the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to 

other instruments that are substantially the same, dis-

counted cash fl ow analysis and option pricing models, 

making maximum use of market inputs and relying as 

little as possible on entity-specifi c inputs.

c) Trade Receivables

 Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effec-

tive interest method, less provision for impairment. A pro-

vision for impairment of trade receivables is established 

when there is objective evidence that the Group will not 

be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 

terms of receivables. Signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the 

debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 

or fi nancial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in 

payments are considered indicators that the trade receiv-

able is impaired. The amount of the provision is the differ-

ence between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the 

effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is 

reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the 

amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement 

within ‘selling and marketing costs’. When a trade receiv-

able is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance 

account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of 

accounts previously written off are credited against ‘sales 

expenses’ in the income statement.

 Long-term receivables and long-term loans granted 

are recognised at their net present value, applying the 
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effective interest rate, from which doubtful accounts are 

deducted. The difference between the nominal value and 

the net present value of the receivable until the due date 

is reported in the income statement by applying the in-

ternal interest rate upon return of the receivable.

 Loans without interest or loans with an interest rate 

different of market rates are initially recognized at their 

fair value, applying the market interest rate, and the dif-

ference between the nominal value and the net present 

value of the receivable is amortized during the period 

remaining until the due date. The initial revaluation to 

the net present value and the subsequent amortisation 

of the receivable’s nominal value and net present value 

is reported in the income statement.

d) Factoring of receivables

 Factoring is the transfer of receivables. Depending on the 

terms of the factoring contract the entity either transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership 

of the receivable or retains certain risks and rewards. 

 If the entity retains the control over receivable or other 

risks associated to the receivable (for example factoring 

with recourse), the transaction is recorded as a fi nancing 

transaction (a collateralized borrowing); the amount is 

retained in the balance sheet as a receivable until col-

lection or until expiration of the recourse. The related li-

ability is recorded similar to other borrowings.

 If the entity transfers the control over the asset and sub-

stantially all respective risks and rewards at the moment 

of transferring receivables, the transaction is recorded as 

the sale of receivable. Related cost is recognized as fi nan-

cial expense or as a cost related to receivables, depend-

ing whether the aim of the transaction was to manage 

the cash fl ows or to manage the credit risk.

e) Liabilities

 On initial recognition, the Group measures fi nancial lia-

bilities (supplier payables, borrowings, accrued expenses 

and other short and long-term borrowings) at fair value 

plus transaction costs directly related to the acquisition or 

issue of fi nancial liabilities if it does not involve fi nancial 

liabilities recognised at fair value through profi t or loss. 

After initial recognition, the Group measures all fi nancial 

liabilities at amortised cost using the effective interest 

rate method. The amortised cost of short-term liabilities 

normally equals their nominal value; therefore short-

term liabilities are stated in the balance sheet in their 

redemption value. A fi nancial liability is classifi ed as cur-

rent when its maturity is within twelve months after the 

balance sheet date. The effective interest rate method is 

used to calculate the amortised cost of non-current fi nan-

cial liabilities.

 Borrowing costs are not capitalised but expensed in the 

period they occurred. 

Provisions

Liabilities that have arisen during the fi nancial year or prior 

periods, which have a legal or contractual basis, which are 

expected to result in the outfl ow of resources, and which 

can be reliably measured, but for which the actual payment 

amount and payment date has not been defi nitely determi-

ned, are recorded as provisions on the balance sheet. Pro-

visions are measured according to the Management Board’s 

estimates and previous experience, and when necessary 

also the assessments of independent experts.

Site restoration expense provision has been recognized to 

the extent a legal or constructive obligation to a third party 

exists, the acquisition cost includes estimated costs of dis-

mantling and removing the asset and restoring the site. A 

change in estimated expenditures for dismantling, removal 

and restoration is added to and/or deducted from the car-

rying value of the related asset. To the extent that the chan-

ge would result in a negative carrying amount, this effect is 

recognized as income. The change in depreciation charge is 

recognized prospectively.

The retirement benefi t provisions are recognised based 

on the entity’s obligation to provide the agreed benefi ts to 

certain current and former employees for a fi xed period of 

time after their retirement. The company has no retirement 

benefi t obligations except for those arsing from a small num-

ber of individual agreements concluded in the past. The re-

tirement benefi t provision is measured at the present value 

of the related obligation.

Termination (redundancy) compensations are recognised 

as liabilities and as expenses when, and only when, the com-

pany has clearly and unequivocally expressed its intention 

to terminate the employment relationship in the ordinary 

manner, in accordance with an accord between employer 

and employee, or before the employee’s legally stipulated 

retirement date. An enterprise is demonstrably committed to 

a termination only when the enterprise has a detailed formal 

plan for the termination, and has no other realistic option for 

solving the situation.

Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the Notes to the fi -

nancial statements as contingent liabilities.

Taxation 

a) Corporate income tax

 According to current legislation, the profi ts of Estonian 

companies are not taxed, whereby deferred income 

tax claims or liabilities do not exist. In Estonia instead 

of profi ts, dividends paid from undistributed profi ts are 

taxed at a rate of 21/79 (until 31 December 2007, a tax 

rate of 22/78 was in force and until 31 December 2006, 

a tax rate of 23/77), on the net dividend paid out. The 

corporate tax resulting from the payment of dividends 

is recognized as an income tax expense in the same 

period as the dividends are declared regardless of for 

which period the dividends are declared or when they 

are actually paid out. 
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b) Other taxes

 Other taxes, that are affected the Group’s results, and tax 

rates in 2007 were the:

Social tax 33% of the paid payroll to the em-
ployees and of the fringe benefi ts;

Unemployment tax 0,3% of the paid payroll to the 
employees;

Income tax on fringe 
benefi ts

22/78 of the fringe benefi ts to the 
employees; (2006: 23/77);

Income tax on ex-
penses not related to 
business activities

22/78 of the expenses not related to 
business activities (2006: 23/77);

Land tax 0,5-2% of the taxable value of the 
land per annum.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair 

value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 

will be received and the Group will comply with all attached 

conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recog-

nised in the income statement over the period necessary to 

match them with the costs that they are intended to com-

pensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, 

plant and equipment are included in non- current liabilities as 

deferred government grants and are credited to the income 

statement on a straight line basis over the expected lives of 

the related assets.

Government grants for operating expenses are recognised in 

proportion with the related expenses. The expenses for com-

pensating and the compensations are recorded separately.

Revenue recognition

Net sales are recorded at the sales value, adjusted for dis-

counts granted and sales related taxes. Sales principally 

consist of traffi c charges including interconnect and roam-

ing, subscription fees, connection and installation fees, and 

service charges. 

Revenue is recognized for the period in which the service is 

performed, base on actual traffi c or over the contract term, as 

applicable, or when the product is delivered. Subscription fees 

are recognized as revenue over the subscription period. 

Sales relating to public phone cards and prepaid mobile cards 

are deferred and recorded in revenue based on the actual 

usage of the cards. Rollover of unused minutes are deferred 

and recognized as revenues when the service is provided.

Connection fees are recognized at completion of connection, 

if the fees do not include any amount for subsequent servic-

ing but only cover the connection costs.

When invoicing end-customers for third-party content serv-

ices, revenue is reported on a net basis if the Group acts as 

an agent without assuming the risks and rewards of owner-

ship of the services.

The services and products may be bundled into one customer 
offering. Offerings may involve the delivery or performance of 
multiple products or services (multiple deliverables). In some 
cases, the arrangements include initial installation, initiation, 
or activation services and involve consideration in the form of 
a fi xed fee or a fi xed fee coupled with a continuing payment 
stream. Telecom equipment is accounted for separately from 
service where a market for each deliverable exist and if title to 
the equipment passes to the end-customer. Costs associated 
with the equipment are recognized at the time of revenue 
recognized. Composite contracts are divided into part, if the 
separate parts correspond to the division criterion. The terms 
and conditions of the contract are allocated to the separate 
parts according to the proportion of the fair value with certain 
restrictions. The revenue is allocated to equipment and serv-
ices in proportion to the fair value of the individual elements. 

Customized equipment that can be used only in connection 
with services or products provided by the Group is not ac-
counted for separately and revenue is deferred over the total 
service arrangement period. There are generally no options 
for the customer to acquire the equipment at the end of the 
service contract period (e. g. DigiTV). Revenue for such func-
tionality agreements is recognized over the service period but 
part of the periodic fi xed fee is deferred to meet the costs at 
the end of the contract period (maintenance and up-grades).

Revenue from interconnection is accrued at the end of each 
accounting period based on the actual traffi c of incoming 
calls from different carriers. Accrued revenue is adjusted to 
actual after reconciliation with the carrier is performed.

In relation to the rendering of services, revenue is recog-
nised when no signifi cant uncertainties remain concerning 
the derivation of consideration or associated costs. Revenues 
from the sale of services are recognized after the service is 
provided, or if the service is provided for a longer period, 
then the percentage-of-completion method is used. 

In relation to the sale of goods, revenue is recognised when 
the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer, and no signifi cant uncertainties re-
main regarding the derivation of that consideration, associ-
ated costs, or the possible return of goods.

Interest and dividends are recognised when it is probable 
that the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction 
will fl ow to the Group and the revenue can be measured 
reliably. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, unless 
collectibility is in doubt. Dividend income is recognised when 
the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Cash and cash fl ows

For the purposes of the cash fl ow statement, cash and cash 
equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with 
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with origi-
nal maturities of three months or less.

Subsequent events

Signifi cant events that occurred during the preparation of 
the annual accounts and are related to transactions that took 
place during the fi nancial year, and confi rm the conditions 

that existed at the date of the fi nancial statement, are con-

sidered in the valuation of assets and liabilities.
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Signifi cant events that occurred during the preparation of the 

annual accounts and are not considered in the valuation of 

assets and liabilities, but signifi cantly infl uence the results 

of the next fi nancial year are disclosed in the notes to the 

annual accounts.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations en-

gaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks 

and returns that are different from those of other business 

segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing 

products or services within a particular economic environment 

that are subject to risks and return that are different from those 

of segments operating in other economic environments.

The report provides information about the Group’s segments, 

and this information is organised by both business segments 

(the primary format for segment reporting) and geographic 

segments (the secondary format for segment reporting).

A business segment is a distinguishable component of the 

Group that is engaged in providing a group of related serv-

ices or products and that is subject to risks and returns that 

are different from those of other business segments. 

Geographic segment is a part of the Group that provides 

services in a specifi c economic environment whereof risks 

and profi tability differ from its other parts that act in other 

different economic environments. The majority of the Group’s 

revenues are generated in Estonia. 

Three major segments, mobile telecommunications, broad-

band and managed IT services are distinguished as primary 

segments in the consolidated fi nancial statements.

Segment expense is expense resulting from the operating 

activities and is directly attributable to the segment. 

Segment gross profi t is segment revenue less segment ex-

pense. Segment gross profi t is determined before any adjust-

ments for minority interest.

Segment assets are those operating assets that are opera-

tively employed and that are directly attributable to the seg-

ment. Segment liabilities are those directly attributable to 

the segment. 

Capital expenditure represents total cost incurred during 

the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to 

be used during more than one period (property, plant and 

equipment, and intangible assets).

Statutory reserve

The statutory reserve in equity is a mandatory reserve, cre-

ated in accordance with Estonian Commercial Code and it can 

only be used for covering losses or conversion to the share 

capital. At each year at least 1/20 of net profi t should be rec-

ognised as statutory reserve until the statutory reserve com-

prises 1/10 of share capital. The distribution to shareholders 

from the statutory reserve is not permitted.

Earnings per share

Basic earning per share is calculated by dividing the profi t of 

the year attributable to equity holders of the parent company 

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstan-

ding during the year. 

Diluted earning per share is calculated based on profi t or loss 

attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent com-

pany and the weighted average number of shares outstan-

ding, adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 

shares. As the Group has not issued any potential ordinary 

shares, the diluted earnings per share equals to the basic 

earnings per share. 

Supplementary disclosure on the parent entity of the 
Group

According to the Estonian Accounting Law the separate 

primary reports of parent company should be disclosed. The 

respective disclosure is in Note 33. 

There are included parent company’s balance sheet, income 

statement, statement of changes in equity and cash fl ows 

statement, which are presented as annex to the consolidated 

fi nancial statements. These primary reports do not form a 

full set of parent company fi nancial statements. The primary 

reports of parent company are prepared using the same 

accounting policies as in the preparation of consolidated fi -

nancial statements. 

According to the revised IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements, in the unconsolidated statements of 

the parent company, which are presented as an annex to 

the consolidated statement, the investments in subsidiary 

companies are recognized at the acquisition cost (less the 

necessary impairment charges). 

2. Segment information

Three major segments, mobile telecommunications, broad-

band and managed IT services are distinguished in the conso-

lidated fi nancial statements.

Mobile telecommunications – this segment operates mobi-

le networks and systems, and deals with the producing, mar-

keting, also with selling of services and goods related thereto. 

The companies belonging to this business segment are AS 

EMT, EMT Esindused AS, AS Mobile Wholesale and Serenda 

Invest OÜ.

Broadband – this segment operates the national telecom-

munications network, with providing broadband and data 

communications services and related value-added services as 

well as provision of production, marketing and sales of other 

related services and goods. The companies belonging to this 

business segment are Elion Enterprises AS, AS Elion Esindus, 

AS EsData and Viru Net OÜ.

Managed IT-services – this segment operates IT services: 

system integration and infrastructure solutions; software 
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development; ERP and business solutions; data communica-

tions and networking; central systems and data centre solu-

tions; systems management and maintenance; end-user PC 

services and support; full IT outsourcing, with providing IT 

services and related value-added-services as well as provi-

sion of production, marketing and sales related services and 

goods. The companies belonging to this business segment are 

AS MicroLink Eesti and up to 30 June 2007 AS MicroLink. 

From 1 July AS MicroLink merged with Elion Enterprises AS.

Segment turnover represents inter-company income and 

expenses of the three above-mentioned segments. The in-

ter-company turnovers between the companies belonging 

to the same segment are eliminated in this report.

All assets of AS Eesti Telekom group are located in Estonia.

Mobile telecommunications Broadband services Managed IT services Unallocated/Eliminations Consolidated

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Total segment revenue  3,904,170  3,502,152  2,983,937 2,748,394  365,344  280,137  8,326  -  7,261,777  6,530,683 

Inter-segment revenue  (593,205)  (452,358)  (276,950)  (215,964)  (122,294)  (94,627)  (8,326)  -  (1,000,775)  (762,949)

Revenue  3,310,965  3,049,794  2,706,987 2,532,430  243,050  185,510  -  -  6,261,002  5,767,734 

Operating profi t/(loss) 1,169,448  1,101,698  629,547  573,755  1,619  12,303  39,364  (41,383)  1 839,978  1,646,373 

Financial income   48,626  42,768 

Financial costs  (2,342)  (1,950)

Finance income – net 46,284  40,818 

Share of profi t / (loss) 
of associates

 (1,758)  134  (2,059)  59  -  -  -  -  (3,817)  193 

Profi t before tax  1,882,445  1,687,384 

Income tax on dividends  (370,897)  (373,377)

Net profi t for the period    1,511,548  1,314,007 

a) Primary reporting format – business segments

 Other information by business segments

Mobile telecommunications Broadband services Managed IT services Unallocated/Eliminations Consolidated

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Assets (except investments in 
associates and goodwill) 

 2,098,155  1,939,985  2,771,681  2,044,840  100,165  481,698  (50,437)  238,513  4,919,564  4,705,037 

Goodwill  38,848  38,848  828  828  -  -  50,006  50,006  89,682  89,682 

Investments in associates  7,451  9,217  5,971  467,474  -  -  -  (459,443)  13,422  17,247 

Total assets  2,144,454  1,988,050  2,778,480  2,513,142  100,165  481,698  (431)  (170,924)  5,022,668  4,811,966 

Liabilities  530,151  423,881  726,751  578,466  69,464  80,645  (618,057)  (384,405)  708,309  698,587 

CAPEX  329,608  247,309  512,620  466,673  32,682  30,295  (12,400)  12  862,510  770,778 

Depreciation, amortization and 
write-downs

 218,016  243,984  252,100  279,371  22,065  14,921 4,101  5,286  496,282  543,562 

Impairment of goodwill  -  -  -  4,774  -  -  -  -  -  4,774 

b) Secondary reporting format – geographic segments

The Group operates in one geographical segment, Estonia, only. All Groups’ customers are located in Estonia. Revenues from 

abroad are related to roaming revenues. 

Mobile telecommunications Broadband services Managed IT services Consolidated

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

European Economic Area (EEA) 3,297,845 3,036,191 2,640,194 2,490,527 242,770 185,510 6,180,809 5,712,228

Rest of Europe 9,514 10,072 48,237 26,342 - - 57,751 36,414

North-America 1,642 1,814 18,520 15,561 280 - 20,442 17,375

Rest of world 1,964 1,717 36 - - - 2,000 1,717

Total, 3,310,965 3,049,794 2,706,987 2,532,430 243,050 185,510 6,261,002 5,767,734

of which:

  – Estonia 3,184,787 2,893,800 2,424,266 2,285,471 239,103 180,580 5,848,156 5,359,851

  – Outside Estonia 126,178 155,994 282,721 246,959 3,947 4,930 412,846 407,883
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Mobile telecommunications Broadband services Managed IT services Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

European Economic Area (EEA) 99.60% 99.55% 97.53% 98.35% 99.88% 100.00% 98.72% 99.04%

Rest of Europe 0.29% 0.33% 1.78% 1.04% - - 0.92% 0.63%

North-America 0.05% 0.06% 0.68% 0.61% 0.12% - 0.33% 0.30%

Rest of world 0.06% 0.06% 0.00% - - - 0.03% 0.03%

Total, 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

of which:

   – Estonia 96.19% 94.89% 89.56% 90.25% 98.38% 97.34% 93.41% 92.93%

   – Outside Estonia 3.81% 5.11% 10.44% 9.75% 1.62% 2.66% 6.59% 7.07%

3. Additional information on the income statement

 2007 2006

(a) Revenue *)

Mobile telecommunications activities 2,932,133 2,716,989

Other wireless telecommunications activities (incl. wireless Internet) 492,986 379,040

Fixed telecommunications activities 1,370,207 1,368,363

Other wired telecommunications activities 1,041,656 843,719

Wholesale of information and communication equipment 640,662 517,179

Retail sale of information and communication equipment in special-
ised stores

1,100,993 1,067,812

Other 149,755 115,521

Inter-group transactions (1,467,390) (1,240,889)

6,261,002 5,767,734

(b) Operating costs by function

Cost of sales 3,542,791 3,260,113

Sales administrative and R&D expenses

   – Sales 427,701 496,187

   – Administration 472,116 412,546

   – Research and development 194 121

900,011 908,854

4,442,802 4,168,967

(c) Operating costs by nature

Goods purchased 1,798,609 1,745,293

Network expenses, interconnect traffi c 1,930,662 1,740,100

Other goods and services purchased 231,476 90,342

3,960,747 3,575,735

Wages and salaries 569,270 483,534

Social charges 194,195 167,902

Other 48,484 38,141

811,949 689,577

Marketing expenses 232,849 184,128

Information technology 91,187 71,700

Rent and leasing fees 62,395 48,377

Rent cars and equipment 42,847 38,142

Energy expenses 37,474 35,310

Travel expenses 10,645 9,268

Consultants’ services 13,115 6,206

Audit fees and costs 2,469 3,569

Change of bad debt expenses 413 (14,201)

Other expenses 64,724 51,881

5,330,814 4,699,692

Inter-group transactions  (1,384,294) (1,079,061)

Total external OPEX 3,946,520 3,620,631

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 496,282 548,336

Total operating expenses 4,442,802 4,168,967

*) Revenue break-down is presented according to Estonian Classifi cations of Economic Activities (EMTAK) 2008. 
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3. Additional information on the income statement (continued)

 2007 2006

(d) Other operating revenues and expenses

Other operating income

Profi t from sales of fi xed assets 13,712 35,196

Foreign exchange gain 4,853 4,068

Interest on fi nes and penalties 8,488 3,603

Other 1,061 10,144

28,114 53,011

Other operating expenses

Foreign exchange loss 4,897 3,872

Interest on fi nes and penalties 1,074 882

Loss from sales of fi xed assets 365 651

6,336 5,405

Net effect on profi t 21,778 47,606

(e) Depreciation and amortisation

Production 439,342 481,321

Sales 15,049 32,185

Administration 41,891 34,830

496,282 548,336

(f) Other net fi nancing items

Finance income

   – Interest income on short-term bank deposits 45,103 38,901

   – Interest income on held-to-maturity assets 2,208 2,100

   – Interest income on loans and receivables 1,102 1,176

48,413 42,177

Foreign exchange gain 213 591

48,626 42,768

Interest expense 1,688 1,269

Foreign exchange loss 654 681

2,342 1,950

Net effect on profi t 46,284 40,818
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4. Taxation

According to the Income Tax Act of the Republic of Estonia 

the net profi t earned by enterprises is not taxed. Thus, there 

are no temporary differences between the tax bases and 

carrying values of assets and liabilities and no deferred tax 

assets and liabilities arise. Instead of taxing the net profi t, 

the distribution of retained earnings is subject to income tax: 

21/79 of net dividend paid (until 31 December 2007 the tax 

rate was 22/78 and until 31 December 2006: 23/77). The 

corporate income tax arising from the payment of dividends 

is accounted for as an expense in the period which dividends 

are declared, regardless of the actual payment date or the 

period for which the dividends are paid for.

In case dividends are paid from the retained earnings for the 

period 1994-1999, it is possible to deduct the income tax 

paid earlier on the part of the retained earnings and prepay-

ments of the tax on dividends made before the year 2000 

from the amount of income tax to be paid on the respective 

amount of distribution. 

Corporate income tax

 2007 2006

Dividends paid 1,310,568 1,241,591

Income tax 22/78 (28.21%) (2006:23/77 (29.87%)) (369,647) (370,865)

Part of the income tax paid by Group subsidiaries, which is transferred to the next accounting 
period

(1,250) (2,512)

Current tax expense (370,897) (373,377)

Effective income tax rate 28.30% 30.07%

5. Property, plant and equipment

 
Land and 
buildings 

Telecommuni-
cation networks 

equipment 

Other 
equipment 

and fi xtures
Construction 

in process Total 

At 31 December 2005

Cost 676,214 7,012,031 801,147 72,263 8,561,655

Accumulated depreciation (411,761) (5,764,390) (551,588) - (6,727,739)

Net book amount 264,453 1,247,641 249,559 72,263 1,833,916

Year ended 31 December 2006

Opening net book amount 264,453 1,247,641 249,559 72,263 1,833,916

Additions 22,758 208,563 4,234 475,825 711,380

Acquired through business combination (Note 9) - 910 9,039 - 9,949

Reclassifi cation 77,146 498,107 (94,599) (480,654) -

Reclassifi cation to assets classifi ed as held-for-sale - (771) (972) - (1,743)

Disposals - (132) (1,259) (39) (1,430)

Depreciation charge (Note 2 (a)) (36,354) (416,949) (54,174) - (507,477)

Closing net book amount 328,003 1,537,369 111,828 67,395 2,044,595

At 31 December 2006

Cost 852,189 7,531,843 407,649 67,395 8,859,076

Accumulated depreciation (524,186) (5,994,474) (295,821) - (6,814,481)

Net book amount 328,003 1,537,369 111,828 67,395 2,044,595

Year ended 31 December 2007

Opening net book amount 328,003 1,537,369 111,828 67,395 2,044,595

Additions 4,530 237,185 12,033 568,909 822,657

Acquired by fi nance leases (Note 6) - 1,020 - - 1,020

Reclassifi cation 6,883 476,301 20,283 (503,467) -

Reclassifi cation to assets classifi ed as held-for-sale - (961) - - (961)

Disposals (507) (1,319) (850) - (2,676)

Depreciation charge (Note 2 (a)) (28,270) (371,306) (59,945) - (459,521)

Closing net book amount 310,639 1,878,289 83,349 132,837 2,405,114

At 31 December 2007

Cost 858,512 7,971,670 401,736 132,837 9,364,755

Accumulated depreciation (547,873) (6,093,381) (318,387) - (6,959,641)

Net book amount 310,639 1,878,289 83,349 132,837 2,405,114

As at 31 December 2007 for the unused network amount of 1,732 thousand EEK remained as ‘Assets classifi ed as held for sale.

The gross carrying amount of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment that are still in use as at 31 December 2007 is 

4,756,660 thousand EEK (31 December 2006: 4,791,088 thousand EEK).
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6. Property, plant and equipment acquired by fi nance lease

 Machinery and equipment

At 31 December 2005

Cost 7,772

Accumulated depreciation (639)

Net book amount 7,133

Year ended 31 December 2005

Opening net book amount 7,133

Depreciation charge (1,894)

Closing net amount 5,239

At 31 December 2005

Cost 7,772

Accumulated depreciation (2,533)

Net book value amount 5,239

Year ended 31 December 2007

Opening net book amount 5,239

Additions 1,020

Termination of lease (28)

Depreciation charge (1,541)

Closing net book amount 4,690

At 31 December 2007

Cost 8,711

Accumulated depreciation (4,021)

Net book amount 4,690

Finance lease liability

2007 2006

At 31 December 3,699 4,497

Principal payments during the fi nancial year 1,819 1,704

Interest expenses during the fi nancial year 162 302

Average annual interest rate 1% - 9% 3%
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7. Intangible assets

Management determined budgeted gross margin based on 

past performance and its market expectations. The weighted 

average growth rates used are consistent with the forecasts 

included in industry reports. The discount rates used refl ect 

specifi c risks relating to the relevant CGUs. 

The carrying value of goodwill was tested as of 31 Decem-

ber 2007. The recoverable amount of a Cash Generating Unit 

(CGU) is determined based on value-in-use calculations. 

These calculations use cash fl ow projections based on fi nan-

cial budgets approved by management covering a fi ve-year 

period. Cash fl ows beyond the fi ve-year period are extrapo-

lated using the estimated growth rates. The growth rate does 

not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the busi-

ness in which the CGU operates. Management determined 

budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its 

expectations for the market development. No impairment 

was identifi ed during the test.

The key assumptions used for goodwill tests are as follows:

 Mobile 
tele  com muni cations CGU’s

Broad Band 
CGU’s

Managed 
IT services CGU’s

WACC 1) 9.0% 8.5% 9.0%

Growth rate 2) 2.0% 1.0% 2.0%

Discount rate 3) 9.0% 8.5% 9.0%

Net book amount of goodwill relating to CGU’s 38,848 828 50,006

1) Weighted average cost of capital.

2) Weighted average growth rate used to extrapolate cash fl ows beyond the budget period.

3) Discount rate applied to the cash fl ow projections.

 
Goodwill

Licenses, patents and trade-
marks and client relations Total 

At 31 December 2005

Cost 55,416 277,814 333,230

Accumulated amortisation - (166,542) (166,542)

Net book amount 55,416 111,272 166,688

Year ended 31 December 2006

Opening net book amount 55,416 111,272 166,688

Additions 39,040 38,496 77,536

Acquired through business combination (Note 9) - 10,953 10,953

Disposals - (272) (272)

Amortisation charge (Note 2 (a)) - (36,085) (36,085)

Impairment charge (Note 2 (a)) (4,774) - (4,774)

Closing net book amount 89,682 124,364 214,046

At 31 December 2006

Cost 89,682 314,292 403,974

Accumulated amortisation - (189,928) (189,928)

Net book amount 89,682 124,364 214,046

Year ended 31 December 2007

Opening net book amount 89,682 124,364 214,046

Additions - 38,833 38,833

Disposals and write-offs - (107) (107)

Amortisation charge (Note 2 (a)) - (36,761) (36,761)

Closing net book amount 89,682 126,329 216,011

At 31 December 2007

Cost 89,682 337,477 427,159

Accumulated amortisation - (211,148) (211,148)

Net book amount 89,682 126,329 216,011

The gross carrying amount of fully depreciated intangible assets that are still in use as at 31 December 2007 is 22,279 thousand 

EEK (31 December 2006: 30,130 thousand EEK).

Impairment tests for goodwill
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8. Investments in subsidiaries

Ownership interest

Notes
Country of 

in corporation 2007 2006 Principal activity Owner

Elion Enterprises AS Estonia 100% 100% Network services for operators, data communication 
and Internet products, voice communication solutions 
and Internet content services for business and residen-
tial customers

AS Eesti Telekom

AS Elion Esindus Estonia 100% 100% Retail sales of telecommunication products and services Elion Enterprises AS

AS EsData Estonia 100% 100% Operating and development of data communication, 
Internet and cable networks, and providing related 
services; sale, installation and maintenance of equip-
ment related with this activities

Elion Enterprises AS

Viru Net OÜ Estonia 100% 100% Internet services Elion Enterprises AS

AS MicroLink 9 Estonia - 100% Holding Company Elion Enterprises AS

AS MicroLink Eesti 9 Estonia 100% 100% IT services: system integration and infrastructure 
solutions; software development; ERP and business 
solutions; data communications and networking; central 
systems and data centre solutions; systems manage-
ment and maintenance; end-user PC services and 
support; full IT outsourcing.

AS Eesti Telekom

AS EMT Estonia 100% 100% Construction and operating of mobile networks, provid-
ing mobile communication services

AS Eesti Telekom

EMT Esindused AS Estonia 100% 100% Retail sales of telecommunication products and services AS EMT

AS Mobile Wholesale Estonia 100% 100% Wholesale of mobile phones AS EMT

Serenda Invest OÜ 9 Estonia 51% 51% Administration of communication portal based in 
Estonia internet

AS EMT

From 1 July 2007, regarding the decisions of AS Eesti Telekom 

Council from 18 April 2007, changes in the structure of the 

Eesti Telekom group became effective.

From 1 July 2007, AS MicroLink Eesti is a 100% owned direct sub-

sidiary of AS Eesti Telekom. AS Eesti Telekom purchased AS Micro-

Link Eesti from AS MicroLink, 100% subsidiary of Elion Enterprises 

AS. Purchase price of acquisition was 111.0 million kroons. The 

transaction did not have an impact on fi nancial positions of the 

AS Eesti Telekom. 

From 1 July 2007 AS MicroLink, a holding company, was 

merged with Elion Enterprises AS. 

Restructuring in 2007 did not have any impact on the con-

solidated fi nancial statements. 

9. Business combinations

In April 2006, AS EMT, a wholly owned subsidiary of AS Eesti 

Telekom, purchased 51 per cent of the shares of Serenda 

Invest OÜ. Serenda Invest OÜ owns the brand name Rate 

and administrates Estonian internet based communication 

portal Rate.ee.

49% of Serenda Invest OÜ belongs to Rate Solution OÜ, 

which owner is Andrei Korobeinik, the author and founder 

of Rate.ee.

Rate.ee is the biggest social network in Estonia, which con-

nects 360,000 registered users. The aim of the acquisition of 

Serenda Invest OÜ is to provide and expand telecommunica-

tion- and multimedia services. 

The acquired subsidiary contributed revenue of 12,027 

thousand EEK and net profi t of 9, 315 thousand EEK to 

the Group for the period from the date of acquisition to 

31 December 2006. If the acquisition had occurred on 

1 January 2006, the contribution to Group revenue would 

have been be approximately the same and profi t would have 

been be lower of approximately 1,000 thousand kroons.

The purchase consideration comprises cash and cash equiva-

lents paid as follows:

• 29,210 thousand EEK in 2006;

• 4,934 thousand EEK in 2007;

• deferred consideration of 5,144 thousand EEK payable in 

2009 (see Notes 23 and 24).

The goodwill is primarily attributable to the profi tability of 

the acquired business, the signifi cant synergies and com-

bined costs savings expected to arise. 

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired are based on 

discounted cash fl ow models. The valuation of identifi able 

intangible assets was performed by an independent profes-

sional appraiser. 

In the last quarter of 2006, Elion acquired Norby Telecom’s 

private client service business. Fair value of assets and li-

abilities acquired are based on discounted cash fl ow models. 

The valuation of identifi able intangible assets was performed 

by an independent professional appraiser. The purchase con-

sideration of 20,030 thousand kroons was allocated fully to 

tangible and intangible assets. 
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The effect of the acquisition of subsidiaries on goodwill and cash fl ows in 2006 were as follows:

2006

Serenda Invest OÜ Norby Telecommunications

 
Note Fair value

Acquirer’s
 carrying amount Fair value

Acquirer’s 
carrying amount

Fixed assets 5 910 910 9,039 3,213

Intangible assets 7 - - 10,953 -

Trade receivables - - 38 38

Cash and cash equivalents 40 40 - -

Liabilities (8) (8) - -

Net identifi able assets and liabilities 942 942 20,030 3,251

Interest acquired 51%  100%

Share in net identifi able assets and li-
abilities acquired

480  20,030

Goodwill 7 38,848  -

Total consideration 39,328  20,030

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 40  -

Unpaid consideration 23, 24 (10,078)  -

Net cash out fl ow (29,210)  (20,030)

10. Investments in associates

Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

 2007

Cost of investments 32,509 32,509

Share of post-acquisition loss, net of dividends received (19,087) (15,262)

13,422 17,247

Details of the Group’s associates, as of 31 December 2007 and 2006, are as follows:

 Ownership interest

Country of incorporation 2007 2006 Principal activity Owner

AS Sertifi tseerimiskeskus Estonia 50% 50% Providing certifi cation and 
related services

Elion Enterprises AS – 25%
AS EMT – 25%

OÜ Voicecom Estonia 26% 26% Designing and providing software 
for mobile related services 

AS EMT

Financial information of associates

 AS Sertifi tseerimiskeskus OÜ Voicecom

2007   

Assets 27,851 9,217

Liabilities 3,966 3,532

Revenues 26,129 22,406

Profi t / (loss) (8,234) 711

2006

Assets 35,352 7,022

Liabilities 3,233 2,490

Revenues 19,249 10,221

Profi t 212 310

Acquisition of minority interest

In 2006 the Group acquired remaining 0.28% of the share 

capital of MicroLink AS.

Details of minority interest of MicroLink AS acquired and re-

lated goodwill arising on the acquisition are as follows:

Purchase consideration 937

Minority interest acquired (745)

Goodwill 192
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11. Financial instruments by category

The accounting policies for fi nancial instruments have been applied to the items below:

Notes Loans and 
receivables

Assets held-
to-maturity

Financial 
iabilities

Total

31 December 2007

Assets as per balance sheet

Trade and other receivables 15 815,335 - - 815,335

Short-term investments 16 694,040 - - 694,040

Cash and cash equivalents 17 396,778 - - 396,778

Total 1,906,153 - - 1,906,153

Liabilities as per balance sheet

Borrowings 19 - - 4,121 4,121

Trade and other liabilities 24 - - 432,054 432,054

Total - - 436,175 436,175

31 December 2006

Assets as per balance sheet

Trade and other receivables 15 726,005 - - 726,005

Short-term investments 16 980,928 83,931 - 1,064,859

Cash and cash equivalents 17 324,405 - - 324,405

Total 2,031,338 83,931 - 2,115,269

Liabilities as per balance sheet

Borrowings 19 - - 5,866 5,866

Trade and other liabilities 23, 24 - - 443,039 443,039

Total - - 448,905 448,905

12. Long-term receivables

The interest rates and repayment terms of the Group’s long-term receivables are as follows:

 
Note Interest rate Maturity date

Year ended 31 
December 2007

Year ended 31 
December 2006

(a) Long- term loan receivables   

Loan to Union of Põlva County Municipalities 10% 2010 1,055 1,055

Non-current portion of receivables   1,055 1,055

(b) Non-current trade receivables

Factoring receivables 422 1,369

Non-current trade receivables 45,942 17,603

46,364 18,972

Current portion of receivables (-) (42,082) (14,468)

Non-current portion of receivables 4,282 4,504

(c) Other long-term receivables

Instalment receivables 2% - 16% 2008 - 2011 168,567 143,767

Finance lease receivables 13 (a) 8% - 16% 2008 - 2011 86,750 76,283

255,317 220,050

Current portion of receivables (-) (145,595) (106,470)

Non-current portion of receivables 109,722 113,580

Total other non-current receivables 115,059 119,139

Expected repayments of the long-term receivables:

2007 2006

Within one year 187,681 120,925

Later than one year and not later than three years incl. 115,055 119,152

302,736 240,077
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13. Finance and operating leases (the Group as lessor)

a) Finance leases 

 The investments in fi nance leases and respective receivables are as follows:

 Note Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

(a) Finance lease – non-current receivables

Finance lease – gross receivables 43,857 51,904

Unearned fi nance income (-) (5,157) (5,743)

Finance lease – net receivables 38,700 46,161

(b) Finance lease – current receivables

Finance lease – gross receivables 56,108 34,417

Unearned fi nance income (-) (8,058) (4,295)

Finance lease – net receivables 48,050 30,122

Total fi nance lease net receivables 12 (c) 86,750 76,283

 PC, DigiTV equipment (three-year contract) and mobile phones (two-year contract) are leased out at the terms of fi nance 

lease.

 Expected repayments of the referred fi nance lease receivables:

 Note Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

(a) Gross receivables from fi nance lease

   – Within one year 56,108 33,998

   – Between one and three years 43,857 52,323

99,965 86,321

Unearned future fi nance income on fi nance lease (-) (13,215) (10,038)

Net investment in fi nance lease 12 (c) 86,750 76,283

(b) Net investment in fi nance lease

   – Within one year 48,050 29,741

   – Between one and three years 38,700 46,542

Net investment in fi nance lease 12 (c) 86,750 76,283

b) Operating leases receivables

 The Group leases offi ce space and IT equipment and solutions under the terms of operating lease. Income from such leases 

amounts to 48,595 thousand EEK and 37,851 thousand EEK in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

14. Inventories

 Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

Raw materials and consumables 65,313 43,987

Goods for resale 115,382 93,133

Advances to suppliers 6,878 5,572

 187,573 142,692

In 2007, impairment for the inventories were in the total amount of 1,266 thousand EEK (2006: 3,556 thousand EEK) based on 

the estimated decline of the net realisation value below their acquisition cost.
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15. Trade and other receivables

 Note Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

Trade receivables

Accounts receivable  778,773  666,772 

Provision for impairment of trade receivables  (17,071)  (11,231)

27 (b) 761,702 655,541

Other fi nancial receivables

International settlements  24,890 43,278

Accrued interest  10,988 14,917

Other accrued income  684 1,038

36,562 59,233

Other receivables

Prepaid expenses  33,565 42,804

Prepaid value-added tax  5,337 3,612

Prepaid other taxes  69 60

Current portion of other long-term receivables 12 (c)  145,595 106,470

Receivables from associates 29 (c) 206 200

Other receivables  9,903 16,292

194,675 169,438

 992,939 884,212 

16. Short-term investments

 Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

Short-term investments with maturities over three months

Deposits 694,040 83,931

Current securities held-to-maturity - 980,928

Total short-term investments 694,040 1,064,859

The effective interest rates on short-term investments in 2007 were:

• investments in EEK - 4.41% (2006: 3.12%)

• investments in EUR – 3.86% (2006: 2.87%).

Structure of short-term investments by currencies

 Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

Short-term investments in EEK

   Deposits 660,000 859,085

   Bonds - 76,113

660,000 935,198

Short-term investments in EUR

   Deposits 34,040 121,843

   Bonds - 7,818

34,040 129,661

Short-term investments total

Deposits 694,040 980,928

Bonds - 83,931

694,040 1,064,859

There were no assets for trading or available-for-sale in 2007 or 2006.



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  O F  T H E  E E S T I  T E L E K O M  G R O U P  2 0 0 740

Notes To The Financial Statements

Translation of the Estonian original
In thousands of Estonian kroons

17. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks and shares of money-market funds:

 Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

Cash in transit 2,576 2,346

Cash on hand 1,764 1,591

Bank accounts 134,368 230,987

Deposits with maturities up to three months 258,070 89,481

396,778 324,405

The effective interest rates on bank accounts in 2007 were:

• bank accounts in EEK - 3.81% (2006: 2.63%);

• bank accounts in EUR - 3.44% (2006: 2.50%);

• bank accounts in USD – 4.67% (2006: 4.60%).

18. Capital and reserves

a) Issued capital

 Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

Shares issued 

Ordinary shares, par value 10 EEK per share, fully paid 137,954,528 137,954,528

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared by the general meeting, and are entitled to one vote 

per share at general meetings of the shareholders of the parent company.

The following tables list the largest owners of ordinary AS Eesti Telekom shares at the year ended: 

      2007

Number of shares Ownership interest %

TeliaSonera AB (immediate parent company Baltic Tele AB) 81,738,899 59.25

Republic of Estonia 33,346,464 24.17

Estonian Development Fund 4,138,636 3.00

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas 3,212,238 2.33

ING Luxembourg S. A. 1,798,330 1.30

Danske Bank Clients Holdings 1,417,453 1.03

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB Clients 1,402,350 1.02

Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG Clients 1,202,410 0.87

Morgan Stanley Co International Equity Client Account 1,023,500 0.74

Clearstream Banking Luxembourg Clients 633,240 0.46

Other public investors 8,041,008 5.83

137,954,528 100.00

2006

Number of shares Ownership interest %

TeliaSonera AB (immediate parent company Baltic Tele AB) 74,110,079 53.72

Republic of Estonia 37,485,100 27.17

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas 12,505,821 9.07

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB Clients 2,238,107 1.62

ING Luxembourg S. A. 1,491,330 1.08

Morgan Stanley Co International Equity Client Account 1,191,442 0.86

Danske Bank Clients Holdings 1,017,063 0.74

Trigon New Europe Small (Little) Associates Found 645,240 0.47

Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG Clients 579,526 0.42

The Northen Trust Company 470,000 0.34

Other public investors 6,220,820 4.51

137,954,528 100.00
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b) Reserves

 Reserves include:
• Statutory legal reserve required by the Commercial 

Code. Subject to the approval of the general meet-
ing, the reserve may be used for covering cumulated 
losses, if the latter cannot be covered with other unre-
stricted equity, and for increasing share capital.

• Share premium – the positive difference between the 
issue price and nominal value of issued shares (issue 
premium).

c) Dividends

 Dividends in the total amount of 1,310,568 thousand EEK 
(2006: 1,241,591 thousand EEK) or 9.50 EEK per ordinary 
share were declared and disbursed in the reporting period 
2007 (2006: 9.00 EEK). 

d) Treasury shares

 The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, on 22 May 
2007, authorized AS Eesti Telekom Management Board to 
acquire within one year from the adoption of this resolu-
tion, i.e. until 22 May 2008 (the same authority, which 
was obtained from last Annual General Meeting on 18 
May 2006, terminated on 18 May 2007) AS Eesti Telekom 
shares of A-series so that the total of nominal values of 
treasury shares held by AS Eesti Telekom would not ex-
ceed the limit set by statutory regulations, and that the 
price payable per share would not exceed the highest 
price paid for the ordinary shares of AS Eesti Telekom on 
the Tallinn Stock Exchange on the day of acquiring the 
shares. AS Eesti Telekom has to pay for the shares from 
the Group’s assets in excess of its share capital, legal re-
serve and share premium. The amount of shares to be 

acquired each time shall be determined on each occasion 
separately by a resolution of AS Eesti Telekom’s Supervi-
sory Council. 

 AS Eesti Telekom has not acquired treasury shares during 
2007 and 2006.

e) Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share have been calculated as follows:

 2007 2006

Profi t for the year from 
continuing operations for 
the period attributable to 
equity holders of the Com-
pany (EEK)

1,505,098,000 1,309,443,000

The average number of 
ordinary shares

137,954,528 137,954,528

EPS (EEK) 10.91 9.49 

 As the Group has no instruments with a dilutive effect on 
earnings per share neither in 2007 or 2006, diluted earn-
ings per share equals basic earnings per share.

f) Share price

 AS Eesti Telekom shares are quoted in the main list of the 
OMX Tallinn Stock Exchange and in the main list of GDR-s 
on the London Stock Exchange. Each GDR (Global Deposi-
tary Receipts) represents three ordinary shares.

 The highest price of an AS Eesti Telekom share on the 
OMX Tallinn Stock Exchange during 2007 was 168.51 
EEK; the lowest price was 102.80 EEK (2006: 131.43 EEK 
and 108.74 EEK respectively) and the average price was 

127.69 EEK per share (2006: 120.38 EEK per share).

19. Interest-bearing liabilities

 Notes Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

(a) Non-current

Factoring payable 20 54 423

Finance lease liability 6, 25 (b) 1,289 2,701

1,343 3,124

(b) Current

Factoring payable 20 368 946

Finance lease liability 6, 25 (b) 2,410 1,796

  2,778 2,742

20. Interest-bearing liabilities information

The Group does not have any contingencies from outstanding bank loans as of 31 December 2007. The details of the Group’s 

long-term debts are as follows:

 Notes Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

Factoring 422 1,369

Current portion of long-term debts (-) 19 (b) (368) (946)

Long-term debts 19 (a) 54 423

Expected repayments of the referred long-term debts:

 2007 2006

Within one year 368 946

Later than one year and not later than three years incl. 54 423

422 1,369
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21. Retirement benefi t obligations

Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

Current portion of retirement benefi t obligations 4,814 865

Non-current portion of retirement benefi t obligations 3,239 7,912

Total retirement benefi t obligations 8,053 8,777

Balance at the beginning of the year 8,777 7,791

Benefi ts paid (893) (865)

Additional provisions - 1,505

Interest accrued 169 224

Exchange differences - 122

Balance at the end of the year 8,053 8,777

The calculation of retirement benefi t provisions are based 
on agreements concluded with certain individuals for a fi xed 
period and amount. These provisions are recorded in the bal-

ance sheet at their present value. The interest rates of high-
quality corporate bonds are used as the average discount 

rate of 4.5%. 

22. Provisions

 
Site restoration 

expense provision

Termination 
benefi ts 

provision

Disputed  
penalties  
provision

Compensation of the 
tolerance of technical 

infrastructure provision 
Guarantee 
provision

Other
provisions Total

Current portion of provisions - 1,957 - 1,980 229 307 4,473

Non-current portion of provisions 20,094 - - - 579 - 20,673

20,094 1,957 - 1,980 808 307 25,146

At 31 December 2006 19,183 3,171 2,132 1,980 961 - 27,427

Additional provisions 911 8,546 - - 390 407 10,254

Used provisions during year - (9,760) (1,629) - (179) (100) (11,668)

Unused amounts reversed - - (503) - (364) - (867)

At 31 December 2007 20,094 1,957 - 1,980 808 307 25,146

• Site restoration expense provision. AS EMT recognized 
site restoration expense provision to the extent a legal or 
constructive obligation to a third party exists. The company 
has concluded two types of contracts for the use of the 
land under masts and modular buildings: “Contracts consti-
tuting rights of superfi cies” and “Contracts encumbering a 
registered immovable with the personal right of use”. The 
majority of the contracts have been concluded for periods 
of 25 and 50 years. Upon the expiration of the contracts, 
AS EMT is obligated to compensate all the costs that are 
related to the restoration of the land under the masts and 
modular buildings to its usual economically good condi-
tion, primarily to free the contract objects from unusable 
structures and buildings and to restore the property into 
the condition that existed before the contract was signed.

• Termination (redundancy) benefi ts provision. The pro-
vision has been created and it will be used in connection 
with the termination employment contracts when, and 
only when, the company has a detailed written plan for 
the termination of the work relationship and there are no 
realistic possibilities for not implementing this plan.

• Provision for disputed penalties. Elisa Mobiilsideteenused 
AS submitted a statement of claim against Elion Enterprises 
AS, in which they demand the performance of contractual 
obligations, and that interconnection fees not paid on time 
in the amount of 9,652 thousand EEK and a penalty of 
2,132 thousand EEK thereon be ordered to be paid by 
Elion Enterprises AS. Elion Enterprises AS contested the 
propriety of the interconnection fee claim. The amount 

for interconnection fees is recognized in the Group’s 2005 
operating cots, but had not been transferred to Elisa Mo-
biilsideteenused AS. Based on the statement of claim, 
an appropriation had been made for penalty in case the 
court action in not resolved in favor of Elion Enterprises 
AS. With the Harju County Court judgment dated 15 Janu-
ary 2007, the action of Elisa Mobiilsideteenused AS was 
partially satisfi ed and the payment of 9,045 thousand EEK 
plus 530 thousand EEK to cover court costs was ordered 
from Elion Enterprises. Elion has paid the corresponding 
amounts. The amount paid to Elisa based on the judgment 
was about 2 million EEK less than would have been pay-
able if the claim had not been disputed.

• Provision for the compensation of the tolerance of tech-
nical infrastructure. According to the Riigikogu resolution 
of April 30, 2004, owners of technical infrastructure and 
networks are obligated to pay landowners compensation 
for the tolerance of technical infrastructure and networks 
built on their land starting on October 1, 2004. The imple-
mentation act regarding the size and payment of the com-
pensation had been passed on February 21, 2007. Upon 
the passage of the implementation act, Elion Enterprises 
AS will have to compensate possible claims started from 
October 1, 2004. Considering this, an appropriation has 
been made totaling the possible compensation amount 
for the period October 1, 2004 – December 31, 2007. The 
calculation of the amounts is based on the law.

• Guarantee provision. Provision for long-term additional 

guarantee of services.



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  O F  T H E  E E S T I  T E L E K O M  G R O U P  2 0 0 743

Notes To The Financial Statements

Translation of the Estonian original
In thousands of Estonian kroons

23. Non-current non-interest bearing liabilities

 
Note

Year ended 
31 December 2007

Year ended 
31 December 2006

Non-current liability for purchase of shares in subsidiaries 9, 27 (b) - 5,144 

Other - 8 

- 5,152

24. Trade and other payables

 
Note

Year ended 
31 December 2007

Year ended 
31 December 2006

Trade and other fi nancial liabilities

Trade payables  358,467  365,381 

International settlements  60,728  54,285 

Current liability related to acquisition of shares 9  5,144 4,934 

Accrued trade payables  6,079 5,530

Other accrued expenses  1,636 7,765 

27 (b)  432,054  437,895 

Other liabilities

Payable to employees  141,726  122,205 

Other prepaid revenue  47,394  41,822 

Value-added tax payable  17,299  18,319 

Social insurance tax payable  15,208  14,749 

Employee withholding tax payable  8,356  8,234 

Income tax fringe benefi ts payable  1,502  1,654 

Unemployment contribution payable  366  358 

Other taxes payable  644  586 

Customer advances  3,964  3,427 

Deferred income from government grants 26  2,350  1,804 

Payables to associates 29  126  312 

 238,935  213,470 

  670,989 651,365

25. Operating and fi nance leases (the Group as lessee)

a) Operating lease payments

 Year ended 
31 December 2007

Year ended 
31 December 2006

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases:

Within one year 34,517 26,220

Later than one year and not later than four years incl. 41,046 48,666

 75,563 74,886

The operating lease expenses for 2007 and 2006 were 29,391 thousand EEK and 28,246 thousand EEK, respectively.

b) Finance lease payments

 
Note

Year ended 
31 December 2007

Year ended 
31 December 2006

Finance lease payments, both principal and interest charge, 
are payable as follows:

   Within one year 2,552 1,951

   Later than one year and not later than three years incl. 1,331 2,816

3,883 4,767

Interest charge (-) (184) (270)

Current portion of fi nance lease liability  19 (b) (2,410) (1,796)

Long-term liability 19 (a) 1,289 2,701
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26. Government grants

Notes 2007 2006

Government grants for operating expenses 

Balance of unappropriated government grant at the beginning of the period - -

Received from the European Union (AXMEDIS project) 995 -

Recognized as government grant revenue 640 -

Balance of unappropriated government grant at the end of the period 24 355 -

Government grants of assets 

Undepreciated balance at the beginning of the period 1,804 928

Received from the Government of the Republic 4,628 5,020

Depreciated into revenue 4,437 4,144

Undepreciated balance at the end of the period 24 1,995 1,804

Total government grants recognized as revenue 5,077 4,144

The fi nancing of operating costs. As of the beginning of 2007, 

Elion Enterprises is participating for the fi rst time in AXMEDIS, 

an international technology-development consortium, which 

assembles various telcos, universities and other undertakings 

in Europe and Asia. The consortium deals with the develop-

ment of multimedia platforms. The development of a cross-

European multimedia standard is planned during the course of 

the project, which would enable the convenient exchange and 

distribution of digital media between various countries. The 

European Union, which is interested in an uniform multimedia 

standard (a single European digital marketplace), is paying the 

costs related to the development. The total cost of the project 

is about 20 million EURs, and it is being fi nanced by the Euro-

pean Union 6th Framework (SIXTH FRAMEWORK PROGRAMME 

PRIORITY 2 Information Society Technologies EU). 

Government grants of assets occurred from the state budg-

et and used by EMT for fi nancing hardware and software. The 

government grants have been accepted by the Estonian Min-

istry of Economic Affairs and Communications.

27. Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of fi nancial risks: 

market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash fl ow and 

fair value interest rate risk, price risk), credit risk and liquidity 

risk. The Group’s risk management is focused on the unpre-

dictability of fi nancial markets and seeks to minimise poten-

tial adverse effects on the Group’s fi nancial performance.

Funding the Group as well as managing Group’s excess liquid-

ity and fi nancial risks are the responsibilities of the Treasury 

Department that fulfi ls its obligations in accordance with the 

rules approved by the Supervisory Board of AS Eesti Telekom.

To manage the Group’s liquid assets more effi ciently the Group 

has cash pooling agreements in Hansapank, SEB Eesti Ühis-

pank, Sampo Pank and in Estonian branch of Nordea Bank Fin-

land. The cash pool is also used for funding the subsidiaries.

a) Market risk

 In 2008, the market risk of the Eesti Telekom group may 

be primarily affected by developments in the Estonian 

economy, since the Group’s economic activities are limited 

mostly to the territory of Estonia. 

 To manage risks, an effort is being made to increase the 

fl exibility of activities, as well as to constantly monitor the 

activities of the competitors. Upon changes in the market 

situation, the corresponding corrections are made in the 

company’s economic activities. 

 The business units of the Eesti Telekom group deal inde-

pendently with the management of market risk. The co-

ordination of activities takes place at the Eesti Telekom 

group level. 

1. Foreign exchange risk

 Currency risk is the potential loss of unfavourable move-

ments in currency exchange rates against Estonian kroons. 

To hedge the currency risk arising from liabilities denomi-

nated in foreign currencies, the Group may conclude cur-

rency forward, option and swap transactions; also the 

Group’s group accounts include foreign currency assets.

 Group Treasury manages currency risk so that in any time 

the movement of currency exchange rates more than 

5% has not bigger effect to open currency positions than 

3 million EEK.

 Main operating currencies for the Group, other than Estoni-

an kroon, are EUR and USD. In 2007 approximately 10% of 

settlements were in EUR and less than 5% of settlements 

in USD. Other foreign currencies contributed less than 1% 

of the total settlements. 

 As of 31 December 2007 the Group did not have any out-

standing derivative contracts related to hedge currency 

risks. No derivatives were used during 2007 and 2006.

 The Company’s fi nancial assets and liabilities denominated 

in original currencies other than EEK are the following ta-

ble (expressed in EEK). EEK and EUR have fi xed exchange 

rate, therefore, the management does not anticipate for-

eign exchange risk occurring from EUR.
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2. Cash fl ow and fair value interest rate risk

The Company’s cash accounts bear overnight deposit inter-

est, which is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that 

Euribor rate fl uctuates. The Company’s held-to-maturity as-

sets bear fi xed interest rate, which exposes the Company to 

fair value interest rate risk. 

Interest rate risk bearing fi nancial assets and liabilities have 

long term maturities which are sensitive to movements in 

interest rates. 

Interest rate risk for fi nancial liabilities represents the volatil-

ity of interest rates, which may result the diffi culties in fore-

casting exact amounts of debt repayments. In worst case 

scenario, if the company has large amounts of debt on its 

balance sheet and the interest rates rise sharply, the sol-

vency of the company becomes under threat.

Impact of 1% parallel change (rise) in the interest rate curve 

to net interest revenue would be 1,057 thousand EEK (2006: 

1,564 thousand EEK).

The Group does not have long-term interest rate sensitive 

fi nancial assets.

The interest rates and repayment terms of the Group’s loans 

are disclosed in note 20 in the fi nancial statements.

3. Price risk

The Company is not exposed to the market risk with respect to 

fi nancial instruments as it does not hold any equity securities.

b) Credit risk

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be 

recognised at the reporting date if counter parties failed to 

perform as contracted. The Group does not have signifi cant 

exposure to credit risk to any individual customer or counter 

party. To reduce exposure to credit risk, the Group performs 

ongoing customer performance evaluations. The manage-

ment does not expect the failure of customers in meeting 

their obligations.

The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit ex-

posure to any fi nancial institution or other counterparty. The 

Group manages its excess liquidity and fi nancial risks only 

with and through Estonian banks, which have at least a 

Baa3 Moody’s credit rating, and foreign banks, which have 

at least an A2 Moody’s credit rating. Total exposure to fi nan-

cial instruments and investments should not exceed 60% 

of Eesti Telekom group`s Total Equity. Credit risk counter- 

party`s could be Government Agencies, Banks, Corporates 

and Money Market Funds. No credit limits were exceeded 

during the reporting period. The group has no collateral 

held for fi nancial assets.

 EUR USD SDR RUB GBP SEK LVL

At 31 December 2007

Financial asset / (liability)

Cash and bank accounts 25,547 4,502 - 24 - - -

Short-term investments 34,040 - - - - - -

Trade and other receivables 43,889 79 9,482 - 35 - -

Trade and other payables (35,439) (3,615) (20,028) (21) - (77) -

Net fi nancial asset / (liability) 68,037 966 (10,546) 3 35 (77) -

Impact to net result if foreign currency (USD/RUB) 
had strengthened against EEK by 10%

- 97 - - - - -

Impact to net result if foreign currency (USD/RUB) 
had weakened against EEK by 10%

- (97) - - - - -

At 31 December 2006

Financial asset / (liability)

Cash and bank accounts 60,772 3,359 - 11 - - 72

Short-term investments 129,661 - - - - - -

Trade and other receivables 41,606 447 12,419 - - -

Trade and other payables (50 ,853) (757) (23,374) (5) (500) -

Net fi nancial asset / (liability) 181,186 3,049 (10,955) 6 - (500) 72

Impact to net result if foreign currency (USD/RUB/
LVL) had strengthened against EEK by 10%

- 305 - 1 - - 7

Impact to net result if foreign currency (USD/RUB/
LVL) had weakened against EEK by 10%

- (305) - (1) - - (7)
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Ageing structure for fi nancial assets

Not due Past due not impaired

up to 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 6 months 6 to 12 months Total

31 December 2007

Assets as per balance sheet

Trade and other receivables 625,756 163,985 18,757 5,935 902 815,335

Short-term investments 694,040 - - - - 694,040

Cash and cash equivalents 396,778 - - - - 396,778

Total 1,716,574 163,985 18,757 5,935 902 1,906,153

31 December 2006

Assets as per balance sheet

Trade and other receivables 666,914 37,505 16,558 4,599 429 726,005

Short-term investments 1,064,859 - - - - 1,064,859

Cash and cash equivalents 324,405 - - - - 324,405

Total 2,056,178 37,505 16,558 4,599 429 2,115,269

Management has established several control procedures re-

lating to the monitoring the credit quality of trade and other 

receivables. Provision of services to clients will be terminated 

when the client has not paid the overdue invoices.

There are no individually impaired fi nancial assets. There 

have been no material losses occurring from impairment of 

fi nancial assets, (see Note 3 change of bad debt expenses) 

resulting good credit quality of not due fi nancial assets.

The maximum credit exposure for each class of fi nancial as-

sets is equal to the book value.

c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the availability of suffi cient funds for 

debt service, dividend payment, capital expenditure and/or 

working capital requirement.

Minimum required liquidity position (MRLP) should at any 

time exceed the level of 5% of planned annual turnover. 

MRLP is calculated as follows:

MRLP = current assets + unused committed credit facilities 

– debt repayable within 12 months.

The table below analyses the Group’s fi nancial liabilities into 

relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 

at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. 

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undis-

counted cash fl ows.

 
Within one year

Between one 
and four years

Total forecasted 
cash fl ow Total book value

At 31 December 2007

Trade and other payables 670,989 - 670,989 670,989

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 2,920 1,385 4,305 4,121

At 31 December 2006

Trade and other payables 656,517 - 656,517 656,517

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 2,897 3,239 6,136 5,866

d) Capital risk management

Eesti Telekom group’s objectives when managing capital are 

to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern 

in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefi ts for 

other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital struc-

ture to reduce the cost of capital. 

According to Commercial Code, the net assets of a public lim-

ited company shall be at least one-half of the share capital 

and at least EEK 400 thousand.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 

may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 

return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets 

to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, 

ROA and ROE. 

Gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capi-

tal. Net debt is calculated as net total current and non-current 

borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and short-term 

investments.

ROA has result of year net profi t divided by average total as-

sets for the same period.

ROE has result of year pre-tax profi t divided by average total 

equity for the same period.
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The ratios at 31 December 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

Notes 2007 2006

Total borrowings 19 4,121 5,866

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments (-) 16, 17 (1,090,818) (1,389,264)

Net debt (1,086,697) (1,383,398)

Total equity 4,314,359 4,113,379

Gearing ratio (25%) (34%)

Net profi t 1,511,548 1,314,007

Average total assets 4,917,317 4,735,733

ROA 31% 28%

Profi t before tax 1,882,445 1,687,384

Average total equity 4,213,869 4,076,938

ROE 45% 41%

Above mentioned results of ratios in the table correspond to the management expectations.

e) Fair value

The fair values of cash, receivables, fi nance lease receivables, trade payables, loans and borrowings are not materially different 

from their carrying amounts.

28. Cash fl ows from operating activities

 Notes Year ended 
31 December 2007

Year ended 
31 December 2006 

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Net profi t for the period  1,511,548  1,314,007 

Adjustments for:

   – Depreciation, amortization and impairment of fi xed and intangible assets 3 (e), 5, 7  496,282  548,336 

   – Profi t from sales and write-off of fi xed assets 3 (d)  (12,638)  (34,545)

   – Share of profi t/(loss) from associates  3,817  (193)

   – Provisions  (2,811)  20,150 

   – Other net fi nancing items  (46,671)  (42,244)

   – Income tax on dividends  -  4 

   – Miscellaneous non-cash items  554  (6,728)

Operating cash fl ows before changes in working capital  1,950,081  1,798,787 

Change in current receivables  (76,497)  43,537 

Change in inventories  (38,043)  (55,782)

Change in current liabilities  16,476  52,232 

Change in working capital  (98,064)  39,987 

Cash generated from operations 1,852,017  1,838,774 

Interest received  52,047  68,126 

Interest paid  (2,063)  (8,386)

Net cash from operating activities  1,902,001 1,898,514 

29. Related party transactions

Transactions with related parties are transactions with ultimate parent company, associates, shareholders, key management, 

supervisory council, their relatives and the companies in which they hold majority interest.

a) Name and relationship of related party

Name Relationship with AS Eesti Telekom group

Key management, supervisory council and their relatives

List of associates is shown in Note 10 

Enterprises of TeliaSonera AB Group Parent company, shareholder

State Government (State Chancellery and ministries) Shareholder

Companies where supervisory council members of the Group have signifi cant infl uence
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b) Key managements’ and supervisory councils’ remuneration

The remunerations of key management of the members of management board of Group Companies and supervisory council 

during the year were as follows:

 2007 2006

Salaries and other short-
term employee benefi ts

52,267 53,872

Termination benefi ts 3,912 2,608

Other 483 698

56,662 57,178

c) Trading transactions

No impairment has been made in 2007 and 2006 for the receivables to related parties.

During the year, the Group’s companies entered into the following transactions with related parties:

 2007 2006

Telecommunication services provided

Associated companies 4,534 1,890

TeliaSonera AB 138,060 193,862

State Government (State Chancellery and ministries) 25,471 18,490

Companies where supervisory council members of the Group have signifi cant infl uence 504 240

168,569 214,482

Other sales

Associated companies 4,514 110

State Government (State Chancellery and ministries) 10,346 11,021

Companies where supervisory council members of the Group have signifi cant infl uence 62 14

14,922 11,145

Telecommunication services purchased

Associated companies 377 477

TeliaSonera AB 163,631 180,894

164,008 181,371

Other services purchased

Associated companies 39 689

TeliaSonera AB - 16

State Government (State Chancellery and ministries) 13,015 4,808

Companies where supervisory council members of the Group have signifi cant infl uence 791 211

13,845 5,724

Financial income

Associated companies - 264

State Government (State Chancellery and ministries) 19 -

19 264

Amounts owed by related parties

Associated companies 206 200

TeliaSoera AB 21,024 23,845

State Government (State Chancellery and ministries) 1,780 1,208

Companies where supervisory council members of the Group have signifi cant infl uence 43 38

23,053 25,291

Amounts owed to related parties

Associated companies 126 312

TeliaSonera AB 27,076 23,645

State Government (State Chancellery and ministries) 261 331

Companies where supervisory council members of the Group have signifi cant infl uence 43 -

Key management and supervisory council 17,385 22,818

 44,891 47,106
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30. Contingencies

a) Contingent income tax liability

The consolidated retained earnings of AS Eesti Telekom as 

at 31 December 2007 amounted to 2,429,361 (31 Decem-

ber 2006: 2,234,831) thousand EEK. As from 1 January 2008 

income tax of 21/79 of net dividend paid (up to 31 De-

cember 2007: 22/78) is imposed on the profi t distributed 

as dividends. Thus, the retained earnings as at 31 December 

2007 that can be paid out as dividends to the shareholders, 

amount to 1,919,195 thousand EEK and the corresponding 

income tax would amount to 510,166 thousand EEK. As at 

31 December 2006 it would have been possible to pay out 

dividends to the shareholders in the amount of 1,743,168 

thousand EEK and the corresponding income tax would have 

amounted to 491,663 thousand EEK.

b) Other contingent liabilities

2007 2006

Key management termination benefi ts 17,385 17,736

The key management termination benefi ts above are obli-

gations only in case of termination of contracts originated 

by Group. 

During the last few years, the Group’s companies have not 

been controlled by the Customs and Tax Board. 

The tax authority has the right to control a company’s ac-

counting for tax purposes within 6 years of the tax return 

being submitted and upon establishing mistakes to assess 

an additional tax amount, interest or fi nes. In addition, in 

certain cases, upon the discovery of possible tax offences, 

fi nes may be assigned. 

According to the assessment of the management, there are 

no circumstances, whereby the tax authority could assess the 

company with any signifi cant supplemental tax. 

c) Court Actions

• Making operator pre-selection possible

 On 22 April 2004, the National Communications Board is-

sued a precept to Elion which obligated Elion Enterprises 

AS to guarantee the possibility of pre-selecting the use 

of the telephone services of other companies, incl. the 

transmission of accounting data for free, to the users of 

its telephone network analogue exchange. 

 On 20 May 2004, Elion Enterprises fi led an action in the 

Tallinn Administrative Court to suspend the fulfi lment 

of the order. On 17 April 2006, the court satisfi ed the 

company’s complaint and annulled the order of the Com-

munications Board. The court found that the obligation 

imposed by the order would require Elion Enterprises to 

make an approximately 200-million-kroon investment in 

connection with the exchange of analog exchanges for 

digital exchanges. 

 The Communications Board, in turn, fi led an appeal on 15 

May 2006, in which it asked for the nullifi cation of the 

court judgment. 

 On 10 January 2007, the Tallinn District Court partially 

satisfi ed the appeal by the Communications Board, by 

changing the motive of the Tallinn Administrative Court. 

The Tallinn District Court considered the judgment of the 

Tallinn Administrative Court to be correct and justifi ed. 

 It is important to note that today the legal situation has 

changed - the Electronic Communications Act that came 

into force on 1 January 2005 obligates undertakings with 

signifi cant market power to enable pre-selection. Elion has 

considered mentioned obligation in it business outlooks.

• Dispute over the fees for Kodulahenduse and Kõneaja 
boonus 

 On 8 April 2005, the Communications Board issued a pre-

cept to Elion Enterprises, according to which undertakings 

with signifi cant market power do not have the right to 

include discounts in the fees for services. Also an execu-

tion proceeding was initiated in respect to Elion for the 

collection of the penalty payment. 

 On 22 August 2005, Elion fi led a complaint with the Tallinn 

Administrative Court to have the execution proceeding of 

the Communications Board nullifi ed and to have the il-

legality of the coercive measure ascertained. With a judg-

ment on 12 December 2005, the Tallinn Administrative 

Court dismissed the complaint by Elion Enterprises. Elion 

Enterprises fi led an appeal with the Tallinn District Court, 

which also dismissed it. 

 On 28 December 2006, the Elion fi led an appeal in cas-

sation with the District Court. On 22 September 2007 the 

Supreme Court of the Republic of Estonia satisfi ed the ap-

peal of cassation of Elion Enterprises AS and annulled the 

previous judgements in full favour of Elion Enterprises AS. 

 The court dispute had a practical meaning for Elion En-

terprises AS – this is a question of pricing strategy. Based 

on the court judgment, the company can apply pricing 

without the disputed limitations. 

• The rates for calls made to Friends Phone

 On 31 March 2005, Elion Enterprises AS submitted an an-

nulment demand to the Tallinn Administrative Court in 

respect to directive J.1-1/79 dated 31 March 2005 and 

precept no. j.1-40.KTO/10 issued by the Communications 

Board. The complaint was made in respect to the rates for 

calls made to Friends Phone. 

 The dispute has been resolved positively for Elion Enter-

prises AS by the judgment of the Tallinn Circuit Court on 3 

October 2007. Upon an application from the Communica-

tions Board, the court ended the appeal procedures and 
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left in force the court judgment made by the Tallinn Ad-

ministrative Court, which was benefi cial to the company. 

Elion Enterprises AS can apply pricing without the disputed 

limitations.

d) Relations with the regulator

 Dispute concerning fee for voice call termination on 

mobile networks

 Pursuant to the decision of the Communications Board 

dated 21 March 2006, the fee for voice call termination 

on mobile networks (interconnection fee) for AS EMT, Elisa 

Eesti AS and Tele2 Eesti AS for the period from 1 July 2006 

to 30 June 2007 was fi xed at 2.05 EEK per minute and, 

pursuant to the decisions of the Communications Board 

dated 20 June and 22 June 2007, was fi xed at 1.66 EEK for 

the period from 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2008. Since Elisa 

Eesti AS and Tele2 Eesti AS disputed the decisions in court 

and the validity of the given legislative act was suspended 

in the course of initial legal protection, the interconnection 

fees remained at 2.50 EEK until 5 November 2007. On 

5 November 2007, the ruling of the Tallinn Circuit Court 

came into force, whereby the initial legal protection was 

cancelled and all three mobile operators were obligated 

to apply interconnection fees of 1.66 EEK as of that date. 

The court disputes of Elisa Eesti AS and Tele2 with the 

Communications Board are continuing, and AS EMT is par-

ticipating in the dispute as a third party. 

 Based on the above-mentioned circumstances EMT made 

one-time provision in the sum of 62 million EEK to cover 

the possible retroactive claims. The impact of possible 

retroactive claims on consolidated profi t of Eesti Telekom 

group has been eliminated since Elion Enterprises AS has 

submitted the corresponding claims to three mobile op-

erators in the sum that exceeds the EMT’s provision. 

31. Employees

The average number of employees during 2007 was 2,327 and during 2006 - 2,206.

32. Parent of the Group

The parent company of the Group is AS Eesti Telekom, situ-

ated at Valge St. 16, 19095 Tallinn, Estonia.

The immediate parent company of AS Eesti Telekom group is 

Baltic Tele AB, a 100%-owned subsidiary of TeliaSonera AB. 

Address: Box 7754, SE-103 96, Stockholm, Sweden.

AS Eesti Telekom group consolidated fi nancial statements are 

consolidated into TeliaSonera AB, the ultimate parent compa-

ny, situated at Sturegatan 1, SE-106 63 Stockholm, Sweden.

33. Supplementary disclosures on the parent entity of the Group

INCOME STATEMENT OF THE PARENT ENTITY

2007 2006

Revenue 8,325 -

Gross profi t 8,325 -

Administrative expenses  (27,043)  (26,511)

Other operating revenues and expenses  202  (3)

Gross loss  (18,516)  (26,514)

Net income from subsidiaries  1,315,000  1,250,000 

Other net fi nancing items  24,051  18,789 

Net profi t for the period 1,320,535  1,242,275 
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BALANCE SHEET OF THE PARENT ENTITY

 Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Fixed assets  168  219 

Intangible assets  17  35 

Investments in subsidiaries  1,428,383  1,317,383 

Total non-current assets  1,428,568  1,317,637 

Current assets

Trade and other receivables  486,645  337,179 

Short-term investments  28,183  277,206 

Total current assets  514,828  614,385 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,943,396  1,932,022 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Share capital  1,379,545  1,379,545 

Share premium  356,018  356,018 

Statutory legal reserve  137,955  137,955 

Retained earnings 54,489 44,522

Total capital and reserves  1,928,007  1,918,040 

Non-current liabilities

Retirement benefi t obligations  -  3,707 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  11,514  7,104 

Retirement benefi t obligations 3,875 -

Provisions  -  3,171 

Total current liabilities  15,389  10,275 

Total liabilities  15,389  13,982 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  1,943,396  1,932,022 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE PARENT ENTITY

 Share 
capital Share premium

Statutory 
legal reserve

 Retained 
earnings Total equity 

1 January 2006 1,379,545 356,018 137,955 43,838 1,917,356

Dividends paid - - - (1,241,591) (1,241,591)

Total changes - - - (1,241,591) (1,241, 591)

Net profi t for the period - - - 1,242,275 1,242,275

31 December 2006 1,379,545 356,018 137,955 44,522 1,918,040

The carrying value of investments in 
subsidiaries 

- - - (1,317,383) (1,317,383)

The carrying value of investments in 
subsidiaries, if equity method had been 
applied 

- - - 3,507,692 3,507,692

Adjusted equity as at 
31 December 2006

1,379,545 356,018 137,955 2,234,831 4,108,349

1 January 2007 1,379,545 356,018 137,955 44,522 1,918,040

Dividends paid - - - (1,310,568) (1,310,568)

Total changes - - - (1,310,568) (1,310,568)

Net profi t for the period - - - 1,320,535 1,320,535

31 December 2007 1,379,545 356,018 137,955 54,489 1,928,007

The carrying value of investments in 
subsidiaries 

- - - (1,428,383) (1,428,383)

The carrying value of investments in 
subsidiaries, if equity method had been 
applied 

- - - 3,803,255 3,803,255

Adjusted equity as at 
31 December 2007

1,379,545 356,018 137,955 2,429,361 4,302,879

The adjusted equity is the basis for the determination of distributable equity according to the Estonian Accounting Law.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT OF THE PARENT ENTITY

 2007 2006

Operating activities

Net profi t for the period  1,320,535  1,242,275 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization  37  48 

Profi t from sales of fi xed assets  (240) -

Provisions  (3,171)  4,676 

Other net fi nancing items  5,772  (537)

Operating cash fl ows before changes in working capital  1,322,933  1,246,462 

Change in current receivables  (3,802)  (273)

Change in current liabilities  4,308  (6)

Change in working capital  506  (279)

Net cash from operating activities  1,323,439  1,246,183 

Investing activities  

Tangible and intangible fi xed assets acquired  -  (12)

Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible fi xed assets  273  6 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  (111,000) -

Net cash changes of short-term investments  247,949  239,707 

Net cash changes of interest-bearing receivables  (150,174)  (273,301)

Repayments of long-term loans granted  -  4,100 

Net cash used in investing activities  (12,952)  (29,500)

Cash fl ow before fi nancing activities  1,310,487  1,216,683 

Financing activities  

Dividends paid  (1,310,568)  (1,241,591)

Net cash used in fi nancing activities  (1,310,568)  (1,241,591)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (81)  (24,908)

 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  -  24,845 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (81)  (24,908)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  81  63 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  -  - 
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AS PricewaterhouseCoopers
Pärnu mnt. 15 
10141 Tallinn 
Estonia

Telephone +372 614 1800 
Facsimile +372 614 1900 
www.pwc.ee 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

(Translation of the Estonian original)

To the Shareholders of AS Eesti Telekom 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of AS Eesti Telekom and its 
subsidiaries (the Group) which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2007 
and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the European Union. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
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Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group as of 31 December 2007, and of its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union. 

Urmas Kaarlep        Madis Jääger 
AS PricewaterhouseCoopers      Authorised Auditor 

25 March 2008 

                                           
This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Estonian. All 

possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the 
original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original 
language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.
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AS EESTI TELEKOM AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

MANAGEMENT BOARD’S AND SUPERVISORY COUNCIL’S SIGNATURES TO THE ANNUAL REPORT 

The Management Board has prepared the management report and the consolidated fi nancial statements of 
AS Eesti Telekom for the fi nancial year ended on 31 December 2007 on 27 March 2008. 

The Supervisory Council of AS Eesti Telekom has reviewed the annual report, prepared by the Management Board, 
consisting of the management report, the consolidated annual accounts and the notes to the annual accounts, the 
Board’s proposal for profi t distribution and the independent auditor’s report, and has approved the annual report 
for presentation on the General Meeting of Shareholders.

All the members of the Management Board and Supervisory Council have signed the annual report.

Name Position Signature Date

Members of the Management Board

Valdo Kalm Chairman of the Board  27.03.2008

Leho Tamm  Member of the Board  27.03.2008

Valdur Laid  Member of the Board  27.03.2008

Enn Saar   Member of the Board  27.03.2008

Members of the Supervisory Council

Mats Salomonsson Chairman of the Council  27.03.2008

Anders Gylder Member of the Council  27.03.2008

Lars Gunnar Klasson Member of the Council  27.03.2008

Jörgen Latte Member of the Council  22.04.2008

Tarmo Porgand Member of the Council  27.03.2008

Jüri Raatma Member of the Council  27.03.2008

Aare Tark Member of the Council  27.03.2008


